
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday, 28th November, 2018
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside - Number One 
Riverside

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 4 - 9

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 20th September 2018 

6.  NORTHERN CARE ALLIANCE 10 - 25

Presentation on services provided 

7.  ROCHDALE BOROUGH SAFEGUARDING BOARDS ANNUAL 26 - 77

Public Document Pack



REPORT 2017/18 

To consider the annual Rochdale Borough safeguarding reports, 
2017/18, for children and adults. 

8.  ADULT, CHILDREN & PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE PLANS 
2018-19 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

78 - 106

Performance information relating to the second quarter of 2018/2019 

9.  MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT 107 - 125

A Market Oversight report for the second quarter 2018/19 

10.  JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR PENNINE CARE (MENTAL 
HEALTH) TRUST 

126 - 129

Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 4th October 2018. 

11.  JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR 
PENNINE ACUTE HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 

130 - 135

Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 26th June 2018 

12.  GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

136 - 140

Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 12th September 2018. 

13.  HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

To note the Committee’s Work programme 2018/19 

14.  2019/20 - 2020/21 SAVINGS PROGRAMME FOR THE INTEGRATED 
HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE POOLED FUND 

141 - 146

The Committee is asked to scrutinise savings proposals, which were 
considered by the Integrated Commissioning Board on 27th November 
2018. 

15.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 



interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

16.  SAVINGS PROPOSALS 147 - 215

The Committee is asked to consider individual proposals detailed in 
the report. 

Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members
Councillor Cecile Biant
Councillor Lynn Brosnan
Councillor Patricia Dale
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Ray Dutton (Chair)
Councillor James Gartside
Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Jean Hornby
Councillor Alan McCarthy
Councillor Susan Smith
Councillor Patricia Sullivan (Vice Chair) 

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services,
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk, telephone: 01706 924715

 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 20th September 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Dutton (in the Chair); Councillors Biant, Dale, 
Davidson, Gartside, Hartley, Hornby and Sullivan. 

OFFICERS: D. David (Assistant Director – Adult Care Service). T. Harrison 
(Assistant Director – Adult Care Service), J. McGregor (Assistant Director - 
Children’s Social Care Service), J. Daniels ( Head of Service (Complex 
Safeguarding) – Children’s Social Care Service), R. Bardsley, E. Wilson 
(Public Health Service) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: One member of the public.

APOLOGIES
73 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brosnan, 
McCarthy and Susan Smith.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
74 There were no declarations of interests.  

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
75 There were no urgent items of business for the Committee to consider.

MINUTES
76 Decision:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Health, School and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 27th June 2018 be approved as a correct record.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
77 Decision:
The Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following item of business, in accordance with the provisions of Section 
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

 
Reason for Decision:
Should the press and public remain during debate on this item there may be a 
disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

SUNRISE TEAM - ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
78 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Children’s 
Services that provided an overview of some of the key highlights from the 5th 
Sunrise Annual Report (April 2017 to March 2018); and was structured around 
the four key strategic approaches to tackling Child Sexual Exploitation: 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



prevention, protection, prosecution and ensuring professional and public 
confidence.

The report highlighted the continued drive to raise confidence, whilst 
managing new challenges from what are often described as vigilante groups. 
The success of the team has continued to be highlighted by external bodies – 
examples provided in the report include positive responses/findings from the 
media, annual peer review and Ofsted inspection.

 The report also highlighted some of the key data including demographics, 
gender and ethnicity. The team’s operational performance was detailed 
throughout the report and was reflected in the performance data. 100% young 
people referred to the Sunrise Team have been allocated a Sunrise Social 
Worker and assessed against the Child Sexual Exploitation index of 
vulnerabilities tool.

The Child Sexual Exploitation dataset was been reviewed and had been 
agreed by the Complex Safeguarding subgroup focusing on the performance 
of all agencies within the Sunrise Team. The overall feedback from young 
people who have been open to the team continued to be highly positive

The report sets out how the Sunrise Team plans to move forward, with a key 
focus being on the development of the team into a Complex Safeguarding 
Team, reflecting the approach being implemented across Greater 
Manchester. The strategy embedded for the Sunrise Team will continue to 
provide a firm basis for the team’s work but the scope will need to broaden 
and evolve in order to address emerging complex safeguarding issues 
specifically in relation to the exploitation of children.

Decision:
The report be noted and welcomed.

The press and public were readmitted to the meeting.

MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT - 1ST QUARTER 2018/19
79 The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director - Adult 
Care (Commissioning) regarding the Market Oversight Plan which provided 
quality assurance information for services commissioned by the Adult Care 
service for quarter one in 2018/19 (April – June).

The Adult Care Service commissioned external provider services to deliver a 
range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The Adult 
Care commissioning team assured the quality of the services. The market 
oversight report presented quality assurance information for quarter one of 
2018/19 for the committee to scrutinise.

Members noted that this was the last occasion at which Dianne David, 
Assistant Director – Adult Care (Commissioning) would be attending a 
meeting of this Committee prior to his retirement in October 2018.

Page 5



Decision: 
1. The report be noted.
2. The Committee expresses its appreciation of the work carried out by 

Dianne David during her time as an employee of Rochdale Borough 
Council.

ORAL HEALTH UPDATE
80 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Public Health, 
which highlighted the issues relating to the oral health of five year old children 
in the Borough. The Committee was advised that local authorities have a 
statutory role to provide or commission oral health promotion programmes to 
improve the health of the local population, to the extent that they consider 
appropriate in their areas. Whilst local authorities have a statutory lead role it 
is recognised that there are roles for oral health improvement across the 
health, education and voluntary sectors. 

‘Health Matters’ had recently focused on child dental health and highlighted 
that improving this requires a whole-systems approach. Action was therefore 
required across the sector, from national and local health policy, to healthcare, 
families and the food and drink industry.

In a recent survey of five-year-olds, 47.1% of five-year-old children in the 
Borough of Rochdale had experience of obvious dental decay. This was 
worse than the 2015 survey results which found that 43.5% of five year-old 
children had experienced dental decay.

The Borough’s children have on average 1.9 teeth affected (at age five, 
children normally have 20 primary teeth) this represents an improvement from 
2.1 in 2015. The percentage of children with incisor caries (bottle decay) 
currently stood at 13.2% which was an improvement from the 2015 figure of 
16.6%.

The regions of England which had the worst oral health tended to be located 
in the north (34% with tooth decay in the North West compared to 16% in the 
South East) and these differences were even greater at a local authority level 
with 47% of five-year-olds having tooth decay in Rochdale compared to 13% 
in Cambridgeshire. Therefore stark inequalities existed with some of the most 
vulnerable, disadvantaged and socially excluded children facing significant 
oral health problems.

In terms of addressing the problem tackling poor Oral Health in Rochdale the 
following Commissioned services were in operation: Locality and 
transformation fund programmes:- 
a. Borough wide fluoride varnish programme for children aged 3 - 5 years 
in both private and LEA nurseries and reception classes - fluoride varnish is 
applied twice a year to the children’s teeth. This programme is funded as part 
of the Rochdale Transformation Plan.
b. Greater Manchester (Public Health England) transformation fund 
programme for tooth-brushing in Schools, taking place in LEA and private day 
nurseries for children aged 2 - 5 years.

Page 6



c. “Brushing for Life”, a Health Visitor led family fluoride tooth-brushing 
scheme for children aged 9 month and 2 yrs. This programme is delivered 
during child assessment visits.  
The organisation Living Well Service, delivered a range of preventive 
programmes: - “Bump to Baby” - a maternity family fluoride toothpaste 
scheme; ‘Tooth Time’, within both LEA and Private Nurseries; the ‘Golden 
Grin’ award scheme – that was designed for all early years settings, based on 
healthy snacking; referral programmes to the Living Well Oral Health 
specialist, for children and families with additional needs; the design and 
delivery of oral health learning packages for schools staff and private day 
nurseries to roll out in class; and learning packages in oral health for child 
minders.

The Borough’s Oral Health Improvement Strategy was currently being 
updated and the Council was working with the Public Health Team at Oldham 
Council. In this regard a number of actions had been identified and 
progressed including an Oral Health Steering Group has been developed to 
ensure actions were taken forward from the peer review and to further 
develop partnership working and support the Oral Health programmes. 

Other initiatives included the Sugar Smart Borough –SUGAR SMART was a 
campaign run by Jamie Oliver and Sustain. GULP – (Give Up Loving Pop) 
was a campaign led by Food Active. It aimed to raise awareness of the health 
harms associated with the over-consumption of sugary drinks. It involves 
participants completing a 30 day challenge to give up fizzy drinks and drink 
water.

Also the ‘breast feeding welcome’ initiative was being progressed - Rochdale 
had over 90 Breast Feeding Welcome venues. It was important to encourage 
and support breast feeding as evidence suggested that breast fed babies 
were less likely to suffer tooth decay and become obese in later life. This 
campaign supported the work of our childhood obesity strategy and also the 
oral health action plan and strategy.

 Tooth decay is largely preventable yet it remains a serious problem
 Daily application of fluoride toothpaste reduces the incidence and 
severity of tooth decay in children.
 Bi Annual application of Duraphate fluoride varnish reduces the 
incidence and severity of tooth decay by 25%
 Children in more deprived areas are less likely to brush their teeth at 
least twice a day
 Nice guidance recommends that targeted early years settings can 
provide a suitable supportive environment for children taking part in a 
supervised tooth-brushing programme.
 Dental surveys for 5 year olds are delivered every 2 years the data is 
then available approx. 10 months later.
 The 2018 19 survey will start to take place later in this school year the 
results will not be available until 2021.

Page 7

http://www.foodactive.org.uk/


 The 3 year old children who are engaged in the start of the locality plan 
and GM transformation fund programme will be surveyed in 2020 21 the 
results will be available in 2022. 

Members of the Committee considered the report in detail and referred to the 
positive benefits that fluoridation of the domestic water supply can bring. In 
this regard the quality of teeth for people of all ages, who live in Birmingham 
and the wider West Midlands region, for instance, is far higher than for those 
parts of the country where the domestic water supply is not fluoridated. It was 
suggested that a report on this matter be brought back to a future meeting of 
the Committee.

Decision:
1. The report be noted and welcomed.
2. A report on the positive benefits that arise from a fluoridated domestic 

water supply be presented by appropriate staff from the Council’s 
Public Health Service to a future meeting of the Committee.   

SUGAR SMART BOROUGH
81 The Committee received the notes and supporting information of a 
meeting of the ‘Sugar Smart Borough’ group that was held 2nd August 2018.

Sugar Smart Borough – SUGAR SMART is a campaign that is run by the 
‘celebrity chef’ Jamie Oliver and Sustain. It supports local authorities, 
organisations, workplaces and individuals in their efforts to reduce the amount 
of sugar consumed. All organisations, partners, Directorates and teams are 
able to sign up to the campaign and pledge to become sugar smart – from 
councils and schools to restaurants, hospitals and work places. Rochdale has 
26 participants signed up to the campaign with 23 pledges to reduce sugar. 
This is being done in a variety of ways through promoting messages, 
designing sugar quizzes, encouraging free drinking water rather than fizzy 
drinks, revising food menus and the content of vending machines.
In addition the GULP initiative (Give Up Loving Pop) is a campaign led by 
Food Active. It aimed to raise awareness of the health harms associated with 
the over-consumption of sugary drinks. It involves participants completing a 
30 day challenge to give up fizzy drinks and drink water. Working closely with 
teachers, young people and health sector colleagues, Food Active has 
developed a series of resources designed specifically for children and young 
people to think about sugary drinks, their effect on health, to learn how to 
identify sugary drinks and to understand the benefits of drinking water. We 
have delivered GULP in 2 schools in the Rochdale and have identified a 
further 6 schools to work with during this school year.

Decision:
That the report be noted.

GREATER MANCHESTER HEALTH AND CARE BOARD
82 Decision:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Greater Manchester Health and Care 
Board, held 11th May 2018, be noted. 

Page 8

http://www.foodactive.org.uk/


JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR PENNINE CARE (MENTAL HEALTH) 
TRUST
83 Decision:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee for Pennine 
Care (Mental Health) Trust, held 12th July 2018, be noted. 

Page 9



Rochdale Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

Rochdale & Bury Care Organisation 

Update 

28th November 2018

Steve Taylor
Chief Officer Bury and Rochdale Care Organisation / Chief Officer, ORHC

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 6



Building on our health and care 

transformation
• Well regarded by GM health and 

social care partnership as a system 

leading the way

• Service transformation is delivering 

demonstrable benefits for people

• Further developing our partnership 

approach through local care 

organisation arrangements

• Mental health transformation a key 

part of programme

• Increasing national interest/regard 

(LGC, HSJ)

P
age 11



P
age 12



P
age 13



P
age 14



System improvements

• Out of 660 people seen by the service 568 were supported outside 

of an A&E setting. This equates to 86%

• Savings realised to the locality = ~ £600K

• 568 emergency department (ED) attendances saved = £80K

• 568 NWAS conveyances saved = £90K

• Assuming 55% of ED presentations are admitted (over 65s) 312 

admissions saved = £437K

• Finalist at HSJ Awards

Elizabeth’s story
• https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3A_k5lDuIdU&feature=youtu.be

(Right click on video and ‘open hyperlink’ to play video)

P
age 15



North East Sector Clinical 

Services Transformation:

A Shared Hospital Service, for 

our shared population

Moneeza Iqbal, 

Clinical Service Strategy Programme Director – NES Clinical Services 

Strategy 

P
age 16



NES Clinical Services Transformation Programme

The aim of the programme:

� The aim of this programme is for North East Sector commissioners and 

providers to co-develop a plan that secures the clinical, financial and 

workforce sustainability of all acute services by 2024/25.

� These plans support and complement wider LCO plans to strengthen 

community support, deliver more care closer to home and maximise the 

use of all estate within the 3 CCG / LA co-terminus footprint.

� Support a shift of focus to Rochdale Locality Plan Programmes

� Prevention and self-care

� Getting help in the community

� Getting more help

� Getting specialist help

� Mental health and wellbeing

� System transformation

P
age 17



A governance structure has been agreed for the programme 

Clinical 

Reference 

Group (CRG)

Comms and 

Engagement 

Group

Financial 

Reference 

Group (FRG)

CCG 

Governing Bodies

NES CST 

Programme Board

Roles and responsibilities

▪ A final decision about what 

option(s) to consult on will need 

to be made by the CCG Governing 

Bodies, in line with their statutory 

duties.

▪ The final recommendation to the 

CCG Governing Bodies will be 

made by the Clinical Services 

Transformation (CST) Board, who 

are responsible for overseeing the 

progress of the review.

▪ All other groups will be 

responsible for debating and 

agreeing key issues and 

assumptions to inform the CST 

Board. 

P
age 18



1. What is the case for change from a clinical, workforce and financial perspective, 

and which services are most impacted?

2. What evaluation criteria should be used to assess the options?

3. What are the range of clinical models that could underpin any future service 

configuration options?

4. What is the shortlist of service configuration options that we should assess 

against the evaluation criteria?

5. How do those options stack up against the evaluation criteria?

We need to be able to answer the following five questions 

through the process we have established:

P
age 19



The process

Case for Change

What is the 

current picture of 

healthcare in our 

area?

Emerging clinical 

models

What does good 

look like and how 

could it be 

delivered?

Autumn 2018Summer 2018

Evaluation criteria

What are the 

outcomes we 

want to achieve?

Co-designed with 

patients, 

clinicians, 

commissioners, 

Healthwatch, etc.

Using public 

health, hospital 

performance and 

quality 

information etc.

Service options

How could we 

deliver this in our 

area

Clinicians have 

been review been 

reviewing different 

clinical models

Clinicians are in 

the process of 

designing and 

modelling 

options

P
age 20



12

The Case for Change

P
age 21



Criteria Sub-criteria

5
Deliverability ▪ Expected time to deliver ▪ Ease of delivering change within 5 years

▪ Co-dependencies with other 

strategies

▪ Alignment with other strategic changes (e.g. STP, any other national and local NHS 

strategies) and provides a flexible platform for the future

3

Affordability 

and value for 

money
▪ Transition costs ▪ One off costs (excl. capital & receipts) to implement changes

▪ Meets regulatory requirements ▪ E.g. Surpluses generated by Foundation Trusts

▪ Capital cost to the system ▪ Capital requirement to achieve required capacity & quality

▪ Net present value ▪ Total value of each potential option incorporating future capital and revenue/cost 

implications and compared on like-for-like basis

1

Quality of care 

for all
▪ Clinical effectiveness

▪ Improved delivery against clinical and constitutional standards, access to skilled 

staff and specialist equipment, comparison of current clinical quality of sites

▪ Patient and carer experience

▪ Improved patient and carer experience with excellent communication & good 

estate▪ Safety
▪ Expected impact on excess mortality, serious untoward incidents

2

Access to care 

for all

▪ Distance and time to access 

services

▪ Impact on population weighted average travel times (blue light, off-peak car, peak 

car, public transport) to reflect average impact for emergency and elective 

treatment and total impact  for more isolated populations

▪ Patient choice ▪ Provides patients with choice in line with their rights in the NHS constitution

▪ Service operating hours ▪ Ability of model to facilitate 7 day working and improved access to care out of 

hours

Description

4

Workforce ▪ Scale of impact
▪ Potential impact on current staff and retraining required

▪ Sustainability
▪ Likelihood to be sustainable from a workforce perspective, facilitating 7 day 

working and addresses any other recruitment challenges
▪ Impact on local workforce

▪ Potential impact on staff attrition due to change

▪ Supports integration and co-ordination of pathways with community and primary 

care

▪ Improved delivery and reduce variation in patient outcomes and health inequalities

▪ Supports new workforce models which reflect new ways of working and education 

and training needs.

13

Evaluation criteria

P
age 22



The process

Case for Change

What is the 

current picture of 

healthcare in our 

area?

Emerging clinical 

models

What does good 

look like and how 

could it be 

delivered?

Autumn 2018Summer 2018

Evaluation criteria

What are the 

outcomes we 

want to achieve?

Co-designed with 

patients, 

clinicians, 

commissioners, 

Healthwatch, etc.

Using public 

health, hospital 

performance and 

quality 

information etc.

Service options

How could we 

deliver this in our 

area

Clinicians have 

been review been 

reviewing different 

clinical models

Clinicians are in 

the process of 

designing and 

modelling 

options

P
age 23



Identify preferred 

options

What are the 

possible options for 

delivery in our area?

National and local 

assurance 

processes

Winter 2018/19

CCGs will make a 

decision about  

consultation

To be confirmed

Implementation

The process – next steps

Evaluation criteria 

will be used to  

identify the 

preferred option

External clinical  

leaders and experts 

will check our 

proposals are robust, 

evidence-based and 

deliverable

P
age 24



Questions?

P
age 25



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 
Portfolio:

28th November 2018
Councillor Heakin 
(Children’s 
Services)/Councillor 
Iftikhar Ahmed (Adult Care 
Services) 

Report Author Jane Booth – Chair of 
Rochdale Borough 
Safeguarding Boards

Public/Private Document Public

Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Boards 
Annual Report 2017/18

Executive Summary

1.1 This Annual Report covers the period from 1st April 2017 to the 31st March 2018. As 
indicated in the foreword to the report this is the second year during which the two 
Safeguarding Boards have published a joint report.  This reflects the closer working 
which has been achieved.  Both Boards have been supported by a single Chair and 
single Business Unit for the last two years.

1.2 The report seeks summarise what we know about need in the Borough and the 
availability, quality and effectiveness of services to respond to that need.  It also 
reports on the work of the two Boards themselves.  

1.3 The report reflects on the information about agency performance derived from data 
collection and analysis, audits and case reviews.  Again many of the performance 
measures used score in the range that is seen as reflecting good practice but there is 
no room for complacency and, while there is much to celebrate, the audits and 
reviews continue to highlight some areas still requiring practice improvement some of 
which are proving to be difficult to resolve. 

1.4 Higher than average levels of deprivation continue have a significant negative impact 
on our population, with both higher levels of child poverty and poorer health and life 
expectancy being recorded. Our population is growing faster in the areas of highest 
deprivation and the population aged over 85 years old is predicted to rise by 28% by 
2025.  

1.5 In previous years, although improving, we have reported concern about access to 
early help for children.  In 2017-18 we have continued to see a year on year rise in 
Early Help Assessments and an increase in the number of children being supported 
as Children in Need. We were concerned last year that the number of children 
supported by a Child Protection Plan was lower than would be expected when 
compared with similar areas; at the year end the figure had risen to be in line with 
national averages.  Of some concern is the number of children needing the support of 
a second period of formal child protection planning and this will be monitored by the 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



Board in the coming year.

1.6 In respect of adult services, the ageing population profile is linked to increasing need 
for care and support.  The pressures on providers of care and support continue to be 
well-documented nationally.  Here in Rochdale we continue to be fortunate to have a 
majority of providers whose services are rated as good and a recorded rate of 90% of 
service users saying they feel safer as a result of the services they have received. 

1.7 Priorities for the Boards for 2018-19 are set out in the Business plan appended to the 
Annual Report.

Recommendation

2.1 Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider and approve the RBSB 
Annual Report 2017/18 to enable publication. 

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 To support and continue effective partnership between RBSB and relevant Boards 
within the Borough 

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 We identified a number of challenges in last year’s Annual Report and we have 
sought to identify how well agencies have responded to the challenges set in 2017-18 
and to draw out the challenges for 2018-19.      

 Early help for children and families:-  we have seen a significant increase in 
the number of Early Help assessment being completed in 2018-19.   

 Recognition of the signs of neglect and evidence of effective responses:- the 
neglect strategy has been refreshed and new tools to support good practice 
identified; these are now being rolled out and we will monitor the outcome.  It 
is fair to say that we have not seen the progress we hoped for to date and 
neglect remains a significant concern.

 Staff confidence and competence in responding effectively to the ever 
increasing complexity of safeguarding issues including such things as modern 
slavery and human trafficking and child criminal exploitation:– we have 
continued to develop our responses to these complex areas of work, are now 
taking an all-age approach; it is the case that Rochdale is seen as leading the 
way across GM in adopting strategic approaches to multi-agency working on 
these agendas.  The Board recently held a well-attended conference 
showcasing good practice and improving practitioner understanding.  Our 
training courses have been updated.

 On-line safeguarding risks and financial abuse:- we recognised the potential 
benefits of technology but this was coupled with an awareness of on-line 
safeguarding risk and the additional vulnerability of specific groups – we have 
improved responses to financial abuse and ran a successful local campaign to 
raise awareness with involvements from the banking sector.  

 Delay in processing Deprivation of Liberty applications:- we recognised that 
there was  insufficient resource to meet the demand – this remains the case 
and mirrors the position nationally. 

4.2 The pressures on all agencies in terms of capacity and resources have continued. 

Page 27



Pressures, particularly on budgets, are likely to be an ongoing feature as in previous 
years, and we remain concerned about adverse impacts on those most in need of 
support. 

4.3 The work of both Boards is structured by statutory guidance.  The Government issued 
revised guidance in Working Together 2018 which requires significant change 
regarding multi-agency arrangements for safeguarding children.  The new guidance 
gives an equal and shared leadership role to the Local Authority, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the Police and they are currently working with other Board 
partners to agree the way forward.  

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 N/A

Risk and Policy Implications

None arising from this report 6.1

Consultation

7.1 N/A

7.2 The report has been endorsed by RBSCB and RBSAB members

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.

Final RBSCB RBSAB 
Annual Report 2017-18.docx

For Further Information Contact: Alyson Harvey (RBSB Business Manager)
alyson.harvey@rochdale.gov.uk 
01706 922 

Page 28

mailto:alyson.harvey@rochdale.gov.uk


1 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

RBSCB & RBSAB 
Annual Report 2017-18

Page 29



2 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Contents Page
1. Foreword 3
2. Part A Context 5
3. Life Course:

Children and Young People 8
Adults 11

4. Services to Children 14
5. What do we know about services offered to children? 16
6. Services to Adults 25

7. Part B The Boards 2017-2018 30
8. Business planning and effectiveness of the Board 2017-18 35
9. Serious Case Reviews and Safeguarding Adult Reviews 45
10. Financial Arrangements 47
11. Appendices 

 Attendance at Boards
 Links to further information

Page 30



3 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

1. Foreword

 
Jane Booth

RBSCB & RBSAB Independent Chair

This Annual Report covers the period from 1st April 2017 to the 31st March 2018. This is the 
second year during which the two Safeguarding Boards have published a joint report.  This 
reflects the closer working which has been achieved.  Both Boards have been supported by 
a single Chair and single Business Unit for the last two years.

Statutory guidance sets out what must be included in this annual report, and of necessity it is 
a big document. As in previous years, it sets out to summarise what we know about need in 
the Borough, the availability, quality and effectiveness of services to respond to that need, 
and it reports on the work of the two Boards themselves.  We have sought to identify how 
well agencies have responded to the challenges set in 2017-18 and to draw out the 
challenges for 2018-19.    

The report reflects on the information about agency performance derived from data 
collection and analysis, audits and case reviews.  Again many of the performance measures 
used score in the range that is seen as reflecting good practice but there is no room for 
complacency and, while there is much to celebrate, the audits and reviews continue to 
highlight some areas still requiring practice improvement some of which are proving to be 
difficult to resolve. 

Higher than average levels of deprivation continue have a significant negative impact on our 
population, with both higher levels of child poverty and poorer health and life expectancy 
being recorded. Our population is growing faster in the areas of highest deprivation and the 
population aged over 85 years old is predicted to rise by 28% by 2025.  

In previous years, although improving, we have reported concern about access to early help 
for children.  In 2017-18 we have continued to see a year on year rise in Early Help 
Assessments and an increase in the number of children being supported as Children in 
Need. We were concerned last year that the number of children supported by a Child 
Protection Plan was lower than would be expected when compared with similar areas; at the 
year end the figure had risen to be in line with national averages.  Of some concern is the 

Page 31



4 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

number of children needing the support of a second period of formal child protection 
planning and this will be monitored by the Board in the coming year.

In respect of adult services, the ageing population profile is linked to increasing need for care 
and support.  The pressures on providers of care and support continue to be well-
documented nationally.  Here in Rochdale we continue to be fortunate to have a majority of 
providers whose services are rated as good and a recorded rate of 90% of service users 
saying they feel safer as a result of the services they have received. 

We identified a number of challenges in last year’s Annual Report:  

 We were concerned about the level of early help being offered to children – we have 
seen a significant increase in the number of Early Help assessment being completed 
in 2018-19.   

 We wanted to feel more confident that signs of neglect are recognised and effective 
responses are in place - the neglect strategy has been refreshed and new tools to 
support good practice identified; these will be launched in the coming year and we 
will monitor the outcome.

 We were aware of the need to ensure all staff are equipped to respond effectively to 
the ever increasing complexity of safeguarding issues including such things as 
modern slavery and human trafficking and child criminal exploitation – we have 
continued to develop our responses to these complex areas of work, are now taking 
an all-age approach and have provided up-to-date training.

 We recognised the potential benefits of technology but this was coupled with an 
awareness of on-line safeguarding risk and the additional vulnerability of specific 
groups – we have improved responses to financial abuse and ran a local campaign 
to raise awareness with involvements from the banking sector.

 We were concerned that capacity to manage Deprivation of Liberty applications was 
insufficient to the demand – this remains the case and mirrors the position nationally. 

The work of the Boards is structured by statutory guidance.  The Government issued revised 
guidance in Working Together 2018 which requires significant change regarding multi-
agency arrangements for safeguarding children.  The new guidance gives a leadership role 
to the Local Authority, the Clinical Commissioning Group and the Police and they are 
currently working with other Board partners to agree the way forward.  They are committed 
to establishing sound multi-agency arrangements which we know are essential for the 
delivery of safe and effective services.

The pressures on all agencies in terms of capacity and resources have continued. 
Pressures, particularly on budgets, are likely to be an ongoing feature as in previous years, 
and we remain concerned about adverse impacts on those most in need of support.  Staff 
across all agencies continue to show immense commitment under what can be very difficult 
circumstances.  Their work goes largely unrecognised but to them I send my particular 
thanks.

Page 32



5 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

2. Part A: Context
Rochdale Borough  1

The population of Rochdale is growing; ONS (Office of National Statistics) Mid-Year 
Estimates for 2016 indicate that there are 216,165 people in the borough, an increase of 
1.5% since 2014 and of 5.2% compared to the 2001 Census estimate of 205,357.

Age

Rochdale borough's population is younger than that of other Greater Manchester areas, 
42,634 children who are aged 0-15 years live within the Borough, and this comprises 19.9% 
of the total population.

However there are also a growing proportion of older people. The Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) estimates that by 2025, nearly 1 in 5 people in Rochdale Borough will 
be aged 65 or over – a significant increase of 19% between 2015 and 2025. The population 
aged 85 and over is expected to increase by 28%. The increase in older people is driven by 
people in general living longer and the post-war baby boom generation becoming older.

Deprivation

30.5% of borough residents live in areas which are among the 10% most deprived in the 
country, an increase from the 27% observed in 2010. Despite this, the number of areas in 
the borough that are amongst the 3% most deprived decreased from 16 to 11.  Data shows 
an increase in the borough population living in the two most deprived population areas 
compared to 2011. The most deprived communities have a younger age profile compared to 
the borough average and our more affluent areas.

The level of child poverty is worse than the England average with 27.0% of children aged under 
16 years living in poverty.

Ethnicity

Our population is increasingly diverse; BME groups account for over 21% of the borough 
population (2011 Census) and 36.3% of school children are from a minority ethnic group 
(Child Health Profile 2017). The socio-economic profile of our BME groups is often vastly 
different to that of White British residents; with consequent negative effects on their quality of 
life and health outcomes.

1   The Health and Well-Being Board have completed a joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) 
(www.statsandmaps.org.uk/jsna). We have used some of this assessment to help give us a profile of the 
Borough.

Page 33



6 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Language

91.7% of the borough identified English as their main language in the 2011 Census.

Faith

The two major religions in Rochdale are Christianity (60.55%) and Islam (13.90%) as per the 
2011 census. 18.90% of respondents noted they had no religion.

Health Inequalities2

Rochdale as a whole has poorer health, life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
compared to the North West and England average. Rochdale is one of the 20% most 
deprived districts/unitary authorities in England and about 22% (9,800) of children live in low 
income families. Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England 
average.
Life expectancy is 9.5 years lower for men and 6.9 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Rochdale than in the least deprived areas.

Child health

In Year 6, 23.3% (635) of children are classified as obese, an increase on the previous year. 
The rate of alcohol-specific hospital stays among those under 18 is 37 per 100,000 
population. This represents 19 stays per year. Levels of GCSE attainment, breastfeeding 
initiation and smoking at time of delivery are worse than the England average.

Adult health

The rate of alcohol-related harm hospital stays is 623 per 100,000 population. This 
represents 1,250 stays per year. The rate of self-harm hospital stays is 165 per 10,000 
population, better than the average for England. This represents 370 stays per year. The 
rate of smoking related deaths is 391 per 100,000 population in Rochdale, worse than the 

2 Local Authority Health Profile 2018

Page 34



7 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

average for England. This represents 409 deaths and is an increase from the previous year. 
Estimated levels of adult excess weight and smoking are worse than the England average. 
The rate of hip fractures is worse than average. Rates of sexually transmitted infections and 
people killed and seriously injured on roads are better than average.

Page 35



8 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

3. The Life Course - Children and Young 
People
Health Protection 

Childhood immunisation uptake is high in Rochdale, giving the majority of local children 
protection against infectious diseases. Individual immunisation rates are higher in Rochdale 
than in both the North West and England, although there are small pockets of poor uptake.

 In 2016/17 in Rochdale 10/8% of children were obese when measured in reception year, an 
increase from 9/8% in the previous year.  The proportion of children that are obese or 
overweight is similar to other parts of the North West and the national rates, but is 
nonetheless, far too high.

Health Prevention

The latest data shows that the rate of hospital admissions caused by unintentional and 
deliberate injuries in children aged 0-14 years was 140.5 per 10,000 residents, in 2015/16. 
Although similar to the North West, in England it is considerably lower and was 104.2 in 
2015/16.This is above both the regional (144.3) and national (112.2) average rates. 
However, in 15-24 year olds the rate has been in decline since 2010/11 and was 163.3 in 
2013/14.               

Smoking during pregnancy is high in the borough, although it has declined in recent years. 
The latest data from NHS Digital (2017/18) shows that 14.9% of mothers smoked during 
pregnancy in Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale. This equates to 106 women out of 710 
maternities.  This is significantly higher than the national average (10.8%) and the Greater 
Manchester average (12.3%) of mothers who reported smoking at time of delivery. 

The oral health of children in Rochdale is poor. By age 5 years, 43.5% of Rochdale children 
have had dental decay (Public Health England.)

Health Related Behaviours

Advocacy - Young drug and alcohol users:

316 young people accessed support for drugs and alcohol:

 13% Cared for Children 
 13% BAME
 40% Female 60% Male
 Primary presenting problems were cannabis and alcohol

Holding Families:

30 Families engaged in Holding Families

 24 mothers 
 12 Fathers

Page 36



9 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

 34 children aged 5-18
 Parents presented with problems associated to Alcohol and cannabis, followed by 

heroin and cocaine use. 
 All families accessed treatment and recovery services, Families demonstrated 

significant reduction in Domestic Abuse and Mental Health Issues, Children and 
Families reported considerable improvements in family relationships, employment 
training and education.  

In 2016, 7% of Year 8 and 29% of Year 10 pupils drank alcohol on at least one day in the 
preceding week. 29%. Previous local surveys in 2013 and 2014 found similar usage in year 
8 and slightly lower usage in year 10 pupils.3

Mental Health and Wellbeing in Children & Young People

Over half of people with a lifetime mental health disorder at the age of 26 will have met the 
diagnostic criteria first by the age of 14. Risk factors which may lead to mental health 
problems include deprivation, learning disability, children in care, domestic abuse and 
homelessness. Between 1st May 2017 and 30th April 2018, it is noted that 2,268 referrals 
were submitted to CAMHS and 1,525 of these referrals were accepted. 

Outcomes for Pupils 2017 

Early Years Foundation Stage:

 64% pupils attained a good level of development at the end of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage. This result is 4% below the North West average and 7% below the 
national average.

 There has been a good rate of improvement in the percentages of children achieving a 
good level of development since 2013, reducing the gap to national averages over 
time; however this remains a priority area for improvement.

Key Stage 2:

 For reading, writing and mathematics combined, 56% pupils met the expected 
standard compared with the national average of 61% and the north-west average of 
60%. Whilst this was a 5% increase when compared with the previous year, the gap 
to the national increased in 2017. 

Key Stage 4:

 Significant changes have taken place to the accountability measures at key stage 4 
in the last twelve months. In English and in mathematics, a 1-9 grading scale has 
been introduced. Grade 4 is a standard pass and grade 5 is a strong pass. Changes 
to the accountability system make it difficult to make a direct comparison with 
outcomes for the previous year. 

 55.3% young people attained a grade 9-4 in English and in mathematics, this is 3.2% 
below the national average and 7% below the North West average 

3 Rochdale Borough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2017/18

Page 37



10 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

 Attainment Eight measures students’ achievement in their best eight GCSEs 
awarding an average point score per pupil (APS.)  The Attainment 8 score for the 
local authority is 42.2%. This evidences a decrease in 6 points

 Progress Eight measures the progress students have made. The LA Progress Eight 
Score is -0.17 compared with the national of -0.03 and the North West of -0.14.  This 
evidences a decrease on the Progress Eight score for 2016 of -0.08.  

MARAC

484 cases were discussed as part of MARAC this year and 55% of these cases featured 
children which is in line with expected figures and consistent with previous years (61% 
2016/17). 159 of the above cases were repeat cases. 

Page 38



11 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

3. The Life Course - Adults
Population

Our population is ageing and by 2025, nearly one in five people in Rochdale Borough will be 
aged 65 or over. National policy emphasises the requirement to shift our focus to 
independent living, quality of life, personalisation, prevention and early intervention in 
addition to providing care for those with complex needs. The Care Act 2014 places people’s 
wellbeing at the heart of the care and support system, safeguarding duties apply regardless 
of whether a person’s care and support needs are being met by the local authority or anyone 
else. They also apply to people who pay for their own care and support services. All services 
are required to be safe, delivered to a high standard and work within statutory guidance to 
safeguard vulnerable adults. The change in social care focus, whereby an increasing 
number of people have their own personal budget to buy their own care, introduces different 
risks and many care packages are multi-agency. Services need to be able to recognise this 
increased vulnerability and support all actions to prevent abuse taking place (whilst 
respecting the individual’s independence) and challenging it when found. The following 
section looks at the demographic makeup of our older people population and how that is 
expected to change over the coming years. It then looks at life expectancy, mortality and ill 
health amongst over 65s.

Demographics4

The number of people over 65 is expected to rise to 38,000 by 2021 (an 8.9% increase) and 
by 2026 there will be 19.8% more people over 65.

A lower proportion of Rochdale’s older people population (9.59%) are from a minority ethnic 
group compared to the all age population (21.4%). 

Falls5

People over 65 can be seriously injured by falls, some of which are preventable. The most 
recent data showed there were 799 injuries due to falls. The rate of falls per 100,000 people 
over 65 was 2,421. This was higher than the England rate of 2,169 per 100,000 but 
comparable to other places across the North West.

Smoking

The latest data from NHS Digital, the number of smoking attributable hospital admissions per 
100,000 population in people aged 35 or over was 2,208. This is significantly higher than our 
statistical neighbours with Bury at 1,856 and Oldham at 1,912 per 100,000 population. The 
North West average for the year is 1,926 per 100,000 population.

Improving Mental Wellbeing

4 Rochdale Borough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Summary 2017/18
5 Rochdale Borough Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2017/18

Page 39



12 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Within the latest Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Rochdale, RightCare estimated the 
prevalence of common mental health disorders in Rochdale for 16-74 year olds as 21%. This 
is higher than the England average of 15.6%.

Living Alone

It is estimated that by 2020 there will be 13,500 people over 65 living by themselves. The 
majority over 90% will be living in houses not designed for old age. Loneliness and isolation 
is very harmful to health. In England 12% of people over 65 are persistently or chronically 
lonely. In Rochdale, this would mean that in 2016 around 4,200 people over 65 were 
chronically lonely.

Health Protection

The latest data reports that vaccination coverage for flu in people aged 65 were 65.4% which 
is lower than similar Boroughs and the North West (72.9%).

Wider Determinants

Rochdale’s alcohol specific mortality rate (19.7 per 100,000) is significantly above England’s 
rate of 11.5 per 100,000. The latest data shows that 69.7% of adults in Rochdale are obese 
or overweight compared to 66.6% in the North West and 64.8% in England. 

The proportion of households estimated to be in fuel poverty in 2015 was 12.4%. The 
highest fuel poverty areas within the borough are generally those with a younger population, 
but fuel poverty and poor housing undoubtedly contributes to excess winter deaths in the 
elderly. The latest data shows that levels of employment in the borough are low, with 64.4% 
of adults employed compared to 72.4% in the North West and 75.5% in England. 

National Probation Service 

A number of individuals managed via the National Probation Service were flagged as 
vulnerable, i.e. those assessed as at risk of self-harm/suicide or with learning 
disabilities/mental health issues.       The latter are flagged if someone has a diagnosed 
mental illness and has in-reach or CMHT care co-ordination.  In total there were 8 service 
users who were registered as safeguarding/adults at risk, meaning that they were in receipt 
of safeguarding services from Adult Social care.  In total, NPS had 17 individuals who were 
registered as mentally disordered offenders and a total of 78 with diagnosed mental health 
issues, 63 who were assessed as having been or currently posing a risk of suicide or self-
harm.

Cheshire & Greater Manchester Community Rehabilitation 
Company

CGM CRC is a relatively new organisation which came into existence in 2014 because of the 
Government’s Transforming Rehabilitation agenda. The organisation took immediate action 
to ensure that a culture of child/adult safeguarding, which supported staff awareness and 
practice, was established.  From the outset, clear policies and lines of accountability were 

Page 40



13 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

established in relation to the promotion and ongoing development of safeguarding policy and 
practice.

Throughout 2017/18 CGM CRC focussed on developing staff awareness and supporting 
staff training and supervision. The creation and improvement of Quality Assurance measures 
was a focal point for development.

Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) 

To ensure the safety of vulnerable adults, the NPS as a partner agency under the MAPPA 
process has signed up to the MAPPA Strategic Management Boards protocol for 
Safeguarding Adults. Learning from a Case Review has also been implemented and the 
template for conducting MAPPA meetings has been amended in Greater Manchester to 
ensure that the safeguarding needs of an individual subject to the MAPPA process are 
appropriately considered. Earlier identification of prisoners with additional needs has 
enabled more effective pre-release planning. The use of MAPPA processes where relevant 
and professional meetings where the active conferencing threshold is not met, enables multi 
agency planning. In addition, the NPS has in 2016, implemented a MAPPA screening 
process which assists in identifying issues or vulnerabilities at an earlier stage.

Page 41



14 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

4. Services to Children
The RBSCB has agreed an approach to access to services through its threshold model, the 
Rochdale’s Children’s Needs and Response Framework. Introduced in 2011, the model was 
fully revised in January 2018 following consultation with managers and practitioners from 
across the partnership.  It provides a clear framework for agencies to work together 
effectively to support families, prevent escalation of concerns and keep children and young 
people safe from harm. The Framework sets out four levels of need, illustrated by the 
‘windscreen’ diagram. 

The RBSCB has produced a number of documents to support understanding and 
implementation of this framework (see appendices):

Level 1 - Low risk:

Children, young people and families whose needs and risks are/can be met by universal 
services or simple, specific agency response.

Level 2 – Low to medium risk:

These children will be living in greater adversity than most other children or have a greater 
degree of vulnerability than most if their needs are not clear, not known or not being met and 
multiagency intervention is required, using the Early Help Assessment/Team Around Family.

Level 3 – Medium and escalating risk:

Page 42



15 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

These children, young people and their families have complex needs. They are experiencing 
sustained and persistent problems that it has not been possible to resolve at previous levels. 
Children are unlikely to meet developmental milestones without statutory assessment by a 
social worker and concerted, co-ordinated multi-agency support.

Level 4 – High risk

These children have significant unmet needs and are being subjected to high risk factors. 
Without a statutory, co-ordinated response they will continue to suffer or be at risk of 
suffering significant harm. They will be supported through Child Protection or Looked After 
processes.

Page 43



16 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

5. What do we know about services offered 
to children? 
What do we know about Early Help?

811 937
1126

1443

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
0

500

1000

1500

2000

Trend Number of EHAs

Early Help Assessments (EHA) have shown a year on year increase.  In 2017-18 the 
services set a stretched annual target for EHAs of 1500, which meant that 375 assessments 
needed to be initiated per quarter. The total for the year was 1443, a figure which was 57 
short of the target. There has been additional activity regarding EHA's in the Locality teams 
supported by the Locality enabler teams and we would expect to see the impact from this in 
quarter 1 of the new reporting year (2018-19).  It is considered that organisations still need to 
be initiating EHA's and at an earlier stage for there to be a significant improvement in this 
measure. Improvements in the quality of EHA's are also required to increase their impact 
upon family's outcomes

What do we know about cases which are referred to Children’s 
Social Care?

738

1163
1019

1099

870 920

1220

923 883 932

1311

1052

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Number of Contacts to MASS/Hub 2017-18

Page 44



17 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

There was in increase in contacts created into the Hub during Q4 reporting period but it 
remains unclear why the increase occurred as there was a two week school holiday period 
which should have normally suppressed referrals. Samples of referral types taken at the 
triage stage have shown that a large amount of contacts were inappropriate.  This continues 
to inflate the figures and increase demand in the Hub. Duty and the Referral and Information 
Co-ordinators (RICs) within the Hub continue to work with multi-agency practitioners to 
develop confidence in the system of having a conversation rather than creating a referral 
that is not necessary. 

159

262

342

227

181
203

271

330

153
177

299

190

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Number of referrals 2017-18 

Referral activity into Children’s Social Care fluctuated across the year with a decrease in Q4 
compared to Q3, albeit an increase compared to Q2.  A new service model, the Family 
Service Model (FSM) was introduced throughout Q4 period. The spike in month of February 
(Q4) was reflective of the impact from the Ofsted Inspection.  Adjustments continue to be 
made to the FSM model hub to ensure partnership working and embedding of localities 
which are anticipated to have an impact over time.

Page 45



18 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

What do we know about Children in Need?

855
915

974 948 920
867

743

1022 997
928

987
1077

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2017-18
2015-16
2016-17

Children in Need - Children's Social Care

Agencies work together to implement an Early Help response to children and families and 
the Child in Need (CIN) figures indicate an increase in CIN cases open to children's social 
care at the end of 2017-18.  The overall patterns are reflective of the referrals into the 
service.  A decrease in numbers of CIN, would be consistent with an improved Early Help 
offer and although there has been an increase in the numbers of Early Help Assessments 
initiated during 2017-18, this is not having a direct impact on cases into Children’s Social 
Care.

27
24

20

16 16.9

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Rochdale
Stat Neighbours
England

% Re-Referrals

The reduction in re-referrals has been a consistent feature over the last 5 years.  This is to 
be welcomed and suggests an effective response to initial referrals which has remained 
consistent over the last 2 years and is below the national and statistical neighbour averages.  
There was a spike in re-referrals during Q4 of this year which was a reflection of the Family 
Service Model Hub processing some of the legacy work within Early Help and resulted in re-
referrals into Children's Social Care.

Page 46



19 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

1577

1173 1119

1438

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
0

200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800

Number of Strategy Discussions Meetings Held

1577

1173 1119

1438

1012

744 684

908

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
0

200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600
1800

Strategy Discussions
Section 47

The number of strategy meetings  has decreased year on year since from  2015.  This trend 
changed  in 2017-18 with an increase of 28.5% . The number of Child Protection 
Investigations (section 47’s) mirrors  the increase in the number of strategy meetings.  The 
increase in demand across the service and increased volume of strategy meetings and S47 
enquiries undertaken in the year has led itself to an increase in ICPCs.

In the three previous years there was a reduction in the number of children subject to S47 
enquiries. This increased in 2017/18 and the rate per 10,000 settled between the England 
average of 157 and statistical neighbours average of 202.

Page 47



20 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

158
177

205
234 243 232 246 243 249 237 240 240

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Number of Children Subject to a CPP - 2017-18

At the year-end of 2016-17 fewer children were subject of Child Protection Plans at 153 and 
this low level prompted some concern. The Local Authority acknowledged in 2014 that the 
number of Children subject to a Child Protection Plan had been significantly high, an issue 
that had been highlighted in Inspection.  As a result a number of strategies were put in place 
to address this issue and included a focus on Child in Need and the Children’s Needs and 
Response Framework.  The numbers of Child Protection Plans slowly and appropriately 
reduced over the following years and Quality Assurance and Board oversight confirmed that 
this was resulting in a more appropriate level for the Local Authority.  However during 2016- 
2017 the number of Child Protection Plans continued to fall with concern that the figure was 
becoming unacceptably low. A review showed that Rochdale’s performance was not in line 
with that of other areas which were all experiencing an increase in numbers.  By the start of 
2017-18 CP numbers had started to gradually increase and over the second half of the year 
they remained static. The rate of 46.8 at the end of March 2018 is just above the England 
Average (43.3) and remains below the Statistical Neighbour average of 60.7.  

69

58

31
26

64

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Rochdale Stat Neighbour
Number of children who became subject of a child protection plan for a second or 

subsequent time

Children’s Social Care has seen an increase in children becoming subject to a plan for a 
second time in the second half of 2017-18, and performance at 20.4 is now above the 
averages. This is an area which will continue to be monitored by the service and the Board.

Page 48



21 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Neglect
Physical abuse
Sexual Abuse
Emotional abuse
Multiple

Catergory of Abuse - 2017-18

In 2015 the Office of the Children’s Commissioner published a report on the prevalence of 
sexual abuse and the strong likelihood that nationally much of it went unrecognised.  Even in 
2017-18, the figures above continue to support this hypothesis and this remains an area for 
challenge.  The Board has been developing a multi-agency strategy to ensure a coordinated 
response to intra-familial sexual abuse. Neglect and emotional abuse remain the highest 
categories of abuse continuing to evidence that the prevalent need around protection is in 
relation to neglect and domestic abuse.

What do we know about Looked After Children?6

 498

Apr-17May-17Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18Mar-18
450
455
460
465
470
475
480
485
490
495
500
505

Number's of Cared for Children

6 For the purpose of this report the terms Looked After Children and Cared for Children are interchangeable

Page 49



22 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

105.0 104.0 95.7 90.1 96.8

60.0 60 60

62.0

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

83.1 88.5 86.9 94.0

Rochdale England Stat Neighbour

Rate per 10,000 population of children looked after

Following a decreasing trend from 2015 to the end of 2017, cared for children numbers have 
increased in 2018.  Overall, Rochdale Children’s Social Care Services has higher than the 
average numbers of cared for children for whom it has responsibility to support and provide 
services.  
There was a 57% increase in 2017/18 in the number of children starting to be looked after 
from a figure of 125 in the previous year. The Local Authority  continues to work with  partner 
agencies, particularly through the new Locality Service Model (see appendix) , to ensure that 
services are available earlier to support and work with families in order to reduce risks to 
children and young people and to turn their lives around and to avoid the need of social care 
intervention.  

What do we know about Missing Children?

The number of cared for children who have gone missing has increased this year compared 
to last year and the % with a missing incident, is in line with the national average at 10%. 
One specific incident involving a number of young people who were unaccompanied and 
appeared to have been trafficked into the area impacted on this figure.  The service has 
seen an increase in the average numbers of missing incidents this year and this is now 
above the England and statistical neighbour averages at 10.4%. 

Page 50



23 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

3.4

11.4

7.4
8.2

6.0

9.0
10.0

2014-15
Rochdale

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2014-15
England

2015-16 2016-17
0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2014-15
2015-16
2016-17
2017-18
2014-15
2015-16
2016-17

Percentage of children who went missing between 
1 April and 31 March 

The links between missing and Child Sexual Exploitation are well known and it is for this 
reason that the Practice manager for the Sunrise Team is also the operational lead for 
missing. As part of this role the Practice Manager led on a review of the missing from home 
process in 2017/18. 

The outcome of the review was to strengthen practice by ensuring that all young people who 
go missing in the borough are reviewed on a daily basis so that timely safeguarding actions 
take place. 

Feedback from the OFSTED inspection undertaken in February 2018 noted that “Intelligence 
from interviews is used for individual children, and the multi-agency approach ensures that 
all intelligence is gathered. Good systems ensure that managers and ‘missing coordinators’ 
have access to live information on the status of children missing from home and care. 
Mapping of children's peers and hotspot locations helps police officers and social workers to 
identify patterns of behaviour. Information and intelligence is shared with other agencies, 
and is used to predict where children might be when they go missing. This enables 
preventative work to take place and helps children to be located more quickly when they go 
missing”.

What do we know about Children with a disability?

The figures for children with additional needs on a Child Protection Plan in Rochdale remain 
low given the research around the level of vulnerability for children with Additional Needs. 
However, over the last 12 months there has been an increased use of Care Proceeding as a 
means of affording affective protection. There were also a number of cases where legal 
proceedings were commenced and removal sought without the child being on a Child 
Protection plan. The Children with Disabilities (CWD) team also had a significant increase in 
the number of Cared4Children that they were working with in 2017/18.

The CWD team have also improved identification and response to cases where there are 
concerns around Fabricated and Induced Illness.

Page 51



24 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

What do we know about girls at risk of Female Genital Mutilation?
In the Greater Manchester area, Manchester City has the highest population of FGM 
practicing communities, closely followed by Salford, Bolton and Rochdale.  The practicing 
communities across Greater Manchester typically originate from Somalia, Eritrea, Sudan, 
and Ethiopia.

In 2017/18 there were no cases identified in Rochdale of girls who had suffered FGM.

When pregnant women are identified as having suffered FGM a risk assessment is 
completed for the unborn child and other girls within the family. In 2017/18 practitioners from 
Pennine Acute Hospital Trust recorded 22 appointments in Rochdale where information 
about FGM was shared. This figure includes repeat appointments.

Page 52



25 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

6. Services to Adults
From April 2015 the Care Act put adult safeguarding on a statutory footing and made it a 
legal requirement for local authorities to make enquiries, or cause others to do so, if it 
believes an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect.  An enquiry should 
establish whether any action needs to be taken to prevent or stop abuse or neglect, and, if 
so, by whom. ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ is a policy initiative shifting the focus of adult 
safeguarding work towards a person centred approach, and working towards outcomes that 
the person wants to help them manage the risk of abuse and/or neglect.

The Care Act 2014 states that six key principles must underpin all adult Safeguarding work, 
these are:

 Empowerment 
 The presumption of person led decisions and informed consent

 Prevention
 It is better to take action before harm occurs

 Proportionality
Proportionate and least intrusive response to the risk presented

 Protection
Support and representation for those in greatest need

 Partnership
Local solutions through services working with their communities

 Accountability
Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding

Safeguarding Levels 
When assessing risk, the following criteria are used to inform priorities:

 Level 4 
Critical - serious harm has been caused, high suspicion of a crime 

 Level 3
Harmful - harm may have occurred, consideration as to whether a joint investigation with 
police is required or not 

 Level 2
Low Risk - abuse where there is little or no harm caused, further information required 

 Level 1
Criteria not met - Poor Practice - isolated incident, no harm - low risk.

Social Care Support 2017/18
During 2016/17, Rochdale Adult Care supported over 5,800 people in the borough.  40% of 
Adult Care service users were aged 18-64 and 60% are aged 65+.  Adult Social Care seeks, 
wherever possible, to support people to remain at home and during 2017/18, 66% of people 
in receipt of long term services received these in the community rather than residential care.  
7,242 assessments and 2,788 reviews of need were completed across the year which is a 

Page 53



26 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

combined 10,030 or just over 835 per month and 3% more than the previous year.

Quality of Care
All establishments providing residential and nursing care are inspected by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC).  At June 2018, 2 providers inspected by the CQC was rated 
inadequate. The Integrated Commissioning Directorate is working with that provider, 
alongside CQC, on a timetabled improvement plan. CQC have also rated 2 providers as 
outstanding with the large majority of other providers rated as Good. 

Safeguarding
There were 702 safeguarding concerns raised during 2017/18. 365 (52%) of these concerns 
went on to a full enquiry. Of the 202 ended enquiries during 2017/18, 161 people (80%) 
were asked what their desired outcomes of the enquiry were and of these, 94% had those 
desired outcomes either fully or partly met at the end of the enquiry.

80% of ended enquiries had an 
outcome of either risk reduced or risk removed. A further 9% of enquiries were ceased at the 
individual request. This demonstrates that Making Safeguarding Personal is being 
considered within safeguarding enquiries. It is expected that where the risk remains in 
cases, further work is undertaken on an individual case basis. This can either through 
signposting to external agencies for further support or Adult Care would respond from a 
single agency perspective.

Ended enquiries abuse types 

Page 54



27 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

The largest percentage of abuse type for Rochdale was neglect (27%) and financial abuse 
(18%). There is no national comparator data available as yet but this is in line with previous 
year national comparator data. 

Delayed Transfer of Care

There was a step change in the performance of Delayed Transfers in the second half of 
2017/18. The implemented schemes such as discharge to assess are still working well but 
there was significant pressure on the system over the winter months.  Delayed Transfer of 
Care is a national priority and Rochdale is in the top quartile nationally for performance.

Service user satisfaction

From the annual national service user survey, Rochdale has consistently performed above 
the England average. The tables below show the percentage of respondents who were 
overall satisfied with the care and support they receive from Adult Care 

Page 55



28 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Of particular significance is the feedback that 90% say that the support from Adult Social 
Care has made them feel safer – a figure which has increased year on year.

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA 
DOLS)

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards provide protection for people staying in care homes 
and hospitals, who lack capacity to consent to their care or treatment and whose liberty is 
deprived in their own best interest, to protect them from harm.  The safeguards also offer the 
right to challenge the deprivation, the right for a representative to act on their behalf in order 
to protect their interests and the right to have their status reviewed and monitored on a 
regular basis. For the period April 2017 to March 2018, a total of 1,384 requests for a 
standard DoLS authorisation were received.

Figures at a glance

Following the Cheshire West judgement in March 2014, which determined the characteristics 
of a deprivation, there has been a significant increase in the number of cases that meet the 
threshold.  The continued year on year increase in applications can be attributed to a 
growing understanding of the requirements of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and 
evidence that deprivation of liberty consideration is embedded in the practice of care homes 
and hospitals. This increase is reflected nationally.

There have been 783 authorisations and 13 declines (1%). It should be noted that there will 
always be a difference between the number of applications and the number of approvals as 
individual circumstances may change, for example the individual may be discharged from 
hospital prior to the authorisation being completed).

Page 56



29 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

The high approval rate can be attributed to managing authorities making appropriate 
referrals for a standard authorisation.  Only 1% of applications received were declined. 
There has been an increase in the number of people supported to challenge the decision for 
their liberty to be deprived, in the Court of Protection.  There has also been an increase in 
the applications made to the Court of Protection for court orders where people are deprived 
of their liberty in the community; ensuring that the restrictive care practices used are lawful.

People in Positions of Trust (PiPoT)

It is a requirement of the Care Act 2014 Statutory Guidance that Safeguarding Adults Boards 
should establish and agree a framework and process for any organisation to respond to 
allegations against anyone who works, (in either a paid or an unpaid capacity,) with adults 
with care and support needs.

In 2017/18 a new Managing Allegations process was agreed for Rochdale using the 
established Local Authority Designated Officer role for Children as a basis for development.

Multi agency training was also developed and delivered to ensure that provider agencies 
understand the new process and their role within it.

An evaluation of the reach and impact of the new process will be reported in the 2018/19 
Annual Report.

Page 57



30 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

8. Part B - The Boards
Each Board works to a Business Plan which is updated on a regular basis.  The work plans 
for all the subgroups derive from the Business Plan priorities.  Reports are presented to the 
Board quarterly and progress against the Business Plan is RAG rated to ensure any 
obstacles to delivery are identified and resolved.  A risk register is also in place to ensure 
any threats to effective conduct of the Boards are dealt with.

Structure RBSB

Statutory and legislative context

The Children Act 2004 requires each local authority to establish a Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) and government guidance specifies the organisations and individuals 
who should be represented. The objectives of an LSCB are set out as follows:

• To coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for the 
purpose of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area; and

• To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for those 
purposes. 

Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations 2006 sets out that the 
functions of the LSCB, in relation to the above objectives under section 14 of the Children 
Act 2004, are as follows:

Page 58



31 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

(a) developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children in the area of the authority, including policies and procedures in relation to: 

(i) the action to be taken where there are concerns about a child’s safety or welfare, 
including thresholds for intervention; 

(ii) training of persons who work with children or in services affecting the safety and welfare 
of children; 

(iii) recruitment and supervision of persons who work with children; 

(iv) investigation of allegations concerning persons who work with children; 

(v) safety and welfare of children who are privately fostered;

(vi) cooperation with neighbouring children’s services authorities and their Board partners; 

(b) communicating to persons and bodies in the area of the authority the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness of how this can best be done 
and encouraging them to do so; 

(c) monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the authority and their 
Board partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
and advising them on ways to improve; 

(d) participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the authority; and 

(e) undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and their Board partners 
on lessons to be learned.

There is also guidance (Regulation 5 (2)) which relates to the LSCB Serious Case Reviews 
function and to the LSCB Child Death functions (Regulation 6). Regulation 5 (3) provides 
that an LSCB may also engage in any other activity that facilitates, or is conducive to, the 
achievement of its objectives.

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 

Alan Wood’s review of the role and functions of Local Safeguarding Children Boards 
(LSCBs), published in May 2016, found widespread agreement that the current system of 
local multi-agency child safeguarding arrangements needed to change. He proposed a new 
model that would replace Local Safeguarding Children Boards and strengthen collective 
accountability across local authorities, the police and health. He also recommended a new 
system of local and national reviews, to replace serious case reviews; and new 
arrangements for child death reviews.
 
The review’s key recommendations were included in the Children and Social Work Act 2017 
which received royal assent on 27 April 2017.  When the full legislation comes into force it 
will amend safeguarding arrangements set out in the Children Act 2004 and LSCBs will be 
replaced. Under the new legislation, the three safeguarding partners (local authorities, chief 
officers of police, and clinical commissioning groups) must make arrangements to work 
together with relevant agencies (as they consider appropriate) to safeguard and protect the 

Page 59



32 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

welfare of children in the area. Safeguarding partners have up to 12 months, from 29 June 
2018, to agree their local arrangements and which relevant agencies they consider 
appropriate should work with them. 

Governance and accountability frameworks

Whilst the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children Board is responsible for coordinating 
and monitoring the effectiveness of agencies in safeguarding children, it is not directly 
accountable for their operational work.  It does however have a role in holding them to 
account.  Each member agency is directly accountable to its own governing body and is 
required to ensure it carries out its safeguarding activity in accordance with the RBSCB 
policies and procedures as well as statutory guidance and appropriate professional 
standards. 

Roles and responsibilities of members
Although the majority of the members of the Board are nominated by their agency, they are 
accountable for their work as a Board Member to the Independent Chair of the Board.  The 
Board has Lay Members whose role is to provide a local perspective of the Boards Business 
Plan and implementation this provides additional independent challenge to the Board.  In 
addition Rochdale Borough Council has nominated the lead member for children to serve on 
the Board as a participant observer and for a period of time the lead member for adults also 
attended the Board. A table of membership can be found in section a) of the appendix to this 
report.

Appendix 2 provides a link to the full response from agencies. Suffice to say that the 
responses evidence considerable effort from across the Board’s partners to continue 
improving services.

Relationships with other strategic forums

The Board has formal protocols with the Children and Young People’s Partnership and with 
the Health and Well-being Board.  It maintains formal relationships with other strategic 
forums through common membership, for example the Chair of the Community Safety 
Partnership is a member of the RBSCB.

RBSAB Statutory and legislative context

The Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Adults Board (RBSAB) is a partnership operating on a 
statutory footing under the Care Act 2014.  

The RBSAB has a strategic role and it oversees and leads adult safeguarding across the 
Borough and considers a range of matters that contribute to the prevention of abuse and 
neglect. These include the safety of patients in its local health services, quality of local care 
and support services, effectiveness of prisons and approved premises in safeguarding 
offenders and awareness and responsiveness of further education services. It is important 
that RBSAB partners feel able to challenge each other and other organisations where it 
believes that their actions or inactions are increasing the risk of abuse or neglect. This 
includes commissioners, as well as providers of services. The RBSAB is an important 
source of advice and assistance, for example in helping others to improve their safeguarding 

Page 60



33 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

mechanisms. It is important that the RBSAB has effective links with other key partnerships in 
the locality and shares relevant information and work plans. The Board works to ensure 
cooperation across agencies and to reduce any duplication and maximise any efficiency, 
particularly as objectives and membership overlap.

Core Duties and Functions

The RBSAB has three core duties:
 To publish a strategic plan for each financial year that sets how we will meet 

our main objectives and what our members will do to achieve this. 
 To publish an annual report detailing what the RBSAB has done during the 

year to achieve its main objective and implement its strategic plan, and what 
each member has done to implement the strategy as well as detailing the 
findings of any Safeguarding Adults Reviews and subsequent action.

 Conduct any Safeguarding Adults Review in accordance with Section 44 of the 
Care Act 2014.

The Care Act 2014 sets out the RBSAB functions as follows:
 Developing strategies for the prevention of abuse and neglect;
 holding partners to account and gain assurance of the effectiveness of its 

arrangements;
 determining arrangements for peer review and self-audit;
 establishing mechanisms for developing policies and strategies for protecting 

adults which
 should be formulated, not only in collaboration and consultation with all relevant 

agencies but also take account of the views of adults who have needs for care 
and support, their families, advocates and carer representatives;

 identifying types of circumstances giving grounds for concern and when they 
should be considered as a referral to the local authority as an enquiry;

 formulating guidance about the arrangements for managing adult safeguarding, 
and dealing

 with complaints, grievances and professional and administrative malpractice in 
relation to safeguarding adults;

 developing strategies to deal with the impact of issues of race, ethnicity, 
religion, gender and gender orientation, sexual orientation, age, disadvantage 
and disability on abuse and neglect;

 identifying mechanisms for monitoring and reviewing the implementation and 
impact of policy and training;

 evidencing how SAB members have challenged one another and held other 
boards to account; 

 promoting multi-agency training and to consider any specialist training that may 
be required.

 Considering any scope to jointly commission some training with other 
partnerships, such as the Community Safety Partnership.

Page 61



34 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

 identifying the role, responsibility, authority and accountability with regard to the 
action each agency and professional group should take to ensure the 
protection of adults;

 establishing ways of analysing and interrogating data on safeguarding 
notifications that increase the Boards understanding of prevalence of abuse 
and neglect locally that builds up a picture 

 agreeing a framework and process for any organisation under the umbrella of 
the Board to respond to allegations and issues of concern that are raised about 
a person who may have harmed or who may pose a risk to adults. 

Governance and accountability frameworks
Rochdale Borough Council acts as the accountable body for both Boards and provides 
support in administration of its HR and financial functions.  It is the formal employer of the 
Board’s Business Unit staff and provides accommodation and IT support to the Board.  The 
Council does not however have decision making powers in respect of the Boards other than 
through its representation on the Boards.  

Each Member agency is directly accountable to its own governing body and is required to 
ensure it carries out its safeguarding activity in accordance with the RBSCB and RBSAB 
policies and procedures as well as compliance with statutory guidance and appropriate 
professional standards.  

In order to provide effective scrutiny, the Boards are independent. They are not subordinate 
to, nor subsumed within, other local structures. The Boards have an independent chair who 
can hold all agencies to account.  It is the responsibility of the Chief Executive of the LA to 
appoint or remove the chair with the agreement of Board members. The Chief Executive, 
drawing on other partners and, where appropriate, the Lead Member, holds the Chair to 
account for the effective working of the Boards. 

To achieve their purpose both Boards have strengthened the scrutiny and assurance from 
partners this year, with work-plans across the subgroups designed to help individual 
agencies identify improvements needed to support multi agency safeguarding strategies.

Page 62



35 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

9. Business planning and effectiveness of 
the Board 2017-18
Both Boards developed a three year plan in 2015 and therefore the strategic objectives 
remained the same for 2017/18.

Children’s Board:

Strategic Objective 1: Effectively communicate the need to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children

Strategic Objective 2: Improve outcomes for children in need and in need of protection

Strategic Objective 3: Ensure that agencies consistently demonstrate high quality practice 
against policies and procedures which promote good outcomes

Strategic Objective 4: Monitor and evaluate effectiveness of agency safeguarding 
arrangements

Adults Board:

Strategic Objective 1: Complete a Board Review, ensuring an effective and efficient 
structure.

Strategic Objective 2: Effectively communicate the need to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of adults with care & support needs.

Strategic Objective 3: Ensure that agencies consistently demonstrate high quality practice 
against policies, procedures and guidance which promote good outcomes.

Strategic Objective 4: Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of agency and RBSAB 
safeguarding arrangements.

The work required to deliver the Board’s strategic priorities is largely undertaken via its sub-
groups. A series of tables below set out the work undertaken by the Board’s sub-groups in 
2017-18. The groups are made up of agency representatives generally at a middle 
management and operational level. They are chaired by Members of the Board and report in 
on a quarterly basis.

The detail evidences a considerable amount of work being completed to improve the quality 
of safeguarding practice in Rochdale, to ensure appropriate policies and procedures are in 
place and to challenge services on the quality of services and outcomes for children.

The Board’s quality assurance framework continues to develop and a robust set of 
performance indicators are scrutinised on a quarterly basis with poor performance 
challenged and good performance celebrated at the full Board meetings

Page 63



36 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Sub-Group Updates 2017-18

Communications and Engagement Sub-Group 
The joint sub group delivers the communication and engagement strategy on behalf of both 
Children and Adult’s Boards. Sub group work includes the dissemination of key messages 
across the partnership and direct engagement with stakeholders in respect of Board 
business priorities.
Key achievements 

 Child neglect campaign
 Adult Financial Abuse campaign
 Nappy Sack campaign
 Community engagement through the Safeguarding Forum

Focus areas 2018-19
• Safe After School campaign/ICON campaign
• Self-Neglect /Managing Allegations campaign
• Effective use of established communication channels 

Attendance 
Attendance at the sub group meetings averaged at 47.9% for the year.

Training Sub-Group
The Training sub-group gathers assurance on behalf of the Board to ensure that 
safeguarding and adult and child protection training in the borough assists practitioners to 
deliver effective services to adults, children and families, and oversees the training provided 
by the RBSAB/CB Training Pool.
Key Achievements 

• The development and delivery of a new course - Bruising on babies and children 
• Briefings on the learning from the SAR on Adult B
• Briefings on the learning from the SAR on Adult C
• Briefings on the learning from the SCR on Child L
• Briefings on the SAR screening process
• Briefings on the SCR screening process
• Briefings on the update to the Children’s Needs and Response Framework 
 A new 3 hour training session on Domestic Abuse

Focus areas 2018-19
 Updates to  the joint training strategy 
 Development and delivery of new courses including, Working with Difficult to Engage 

Families, Adults’ Allegations Management process and Safer Working Practices.
 Charging policy for non-attendance to be reviewed and a new formal policy 

introduced.
Attendance 
Attendance at the sub group meetings averaged at 36% for the year.

Policy and Procedure Sub-Group (RBSCB)
The policy and procedures sub-group is responsible for developing and agreeing inter-
agency policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, 
consistent with Working Together to Safeguard Children and for ensuring that the Greater 
Manchester Multi Agency Child Protection procedures reflect local requirements and are 

Page 64



37 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

supported at a local level.
Key Achievements 

• Update 9 of the Procedures was published in April 2017. 
 Update 10 of the Procedures was published in November 2017.
 The Training sub group is notified of procedural and policy changes and these are 

reflected in multi - agency training. 

Focus areas 2018-19
• Update 11 and 10 of the Procedures to be completed and published
• Development of new arrangements under the GM Standards Board

Attendance 
Both Policy and Procedures sub-groups are virtual groups –they do not meet but instead 
conduct business through email contact.

Policy and Procedure Sub-Group (RBSAB)
The policy and procedures sub group ensures that the RBSAB has Multi-Agency Policy, 
Procedures and Guidance that comply with the Care Act 2014 and other current legislation 
and initiatives.
Key Achievements 

  A suite of self neglect and hoarding documents including a strategy, toolkits and 
guidelines were created and published.

 A media policy has been created.
 A Falls Protocol for service providers has been created, published and circulated to 

service providers.
 The Professional Decision-Making Tool in Response to a Safeguarding Alert has 

been updated.
 Allegations Management Policy and Procedures and Safer Working Practices 

guidance were introduced.
 Amendments have been made to the RBSAB Multi-Agency Policy and Procedures to 

include reference to a new offence of controlling and coercive behaviour in an 
intimate or family relationship, brought into law under the Serious Crime Act 2015, 
and to reflect the Allegations Management policy and Procedures.

 The “Refusal of Medical Treatment Guidelines” has been reviewed and updated.
Focus areas 2018-19

• Multi-agency policy and procedure document will require rewrite in light of the new 
Managing Allegations procedure 

Attendance 
Both Policy and Procedures sub-groups are virtual groups –they do not meet but instead 
conduct business through email contact.

Page 65



38 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement Sub-Group 
The Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement Sub Group consists of Members from 
each of the single agencies, and collectively monitors and evaluates the effectiveness of 
multi-agency working arrangements, reporting to the Board members, who can then provide 
advice on ways to improve performance and quality.  Work is carried out in accordance with 
the PI framework and agreed QAPI Schedule of Work with consideration to a range of 
methodologies.

This includes:-

• Assessing effectiveness and impact of interventions being provided to children their 
families, and adults

• Quality Assuring practice which includes audits of case files and alternative audit 
methodologies; arranging for the population of agency specific performance indicator 
returns and contributing to multi-agency analysis of data based on single agency 
information and commentaries , and reporting this to the Board

• Identification of lessons learnt so as to improve practice Assessing whether Board 
Partners are fulfilling their statutory obligations in accordance with legislation and 
guidance

• Carrying out Multi Agency case file audits (MACFAs) and Section 11/Self-
assessment / Schools audits, with QAPI Members being the single agency contact 
officer who has oversight of the completion and return of the audits 

• QAPI identifies single agency concerns and contributes to and updates a Risk 
Register document, which is reported to the Boards Updating the Boards on a 
quarterly basis

Key Achievements 
 The alternative methodologies used have included focus groups with involved 

practitioners.  
 The audit topics completed were on 

Neglect
Early Help neglect
Missing and Child Sexual Exploitation
Intra-familial Sexual Abuse
Focus areas 2018-19

 Reviewing the role of QAPI going forwards
 Development of and implementation of a Board Member Appraisal Process
 Development of a new MACFA referral process which will focus on cases where 

concerns have been identified, and  good practice which can be  shared for learning 
opportunities

 Ensuring key learning lessons from audits are communicated to practitioners and 
impact of QA on practice

 Review and development of a new slim-lined performance indicator dataset
 Audits – Joint audits on DA and on Transitions, and Adults audits on self-neglect and 

on MSP
 Section 11 Audit and contribution to the schools audit

Attendance 
Attendance at the sub group meetings averaged at 52% for the year.

Complex Safeguarding Sub-Group

Page 66



39 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

The complex safeguarding subgroup is a joint subgroup of both Boards. The subgroup is 
chaired by Gail Hopper DCS RBC. The purpose of the subgroup is to receive thematic 
strategies/plans, developments (statutory/practice) and provide a challenge and support role 
within the context of the respective operational delivery in the following complex work 
streams and provide reassurance to both Boards:

• Child Sexual Exploitation
• Missing from home, care and education
• Radicalisation 
• Female Genital Mutilation
• Modern Slavery 
• Honour Based Violence
• Organised Crime

Key Achievements 
• Complex Safeguarding Conference (July 2017)
• Demonstrated multi-agency engagement in developing and leading on strategy 

implementation 
Focus areas 2018-19

• Evidencing the impact of strategies
• Complex Safeguarding Conference 2018
• Developing Child Criminal Exploitation strategy and action plan
• Developing sham marriages strategy and action plan

Attendance 
Attendance at the sub group meetings averaged at 47.7% for the year.

Excellence in Practice Sub-Group
The purpose of the Excellence in Practice Sub Group is to receive thematic strategies/plans, 
developments (statutory/practice) and provide a challenge and support role. In addition the 
EPSG promotes the use ‘good practice’ tools to support the raising of standards and practice 
undertaken with respective organisations.
Key Achievements 
Children 

• Update and relaunch of the Children’s Needs and Response Framework
• Challenge and support to Neglect and Domestic Abuse Working groups and in 

relation to safeguarding children elements of the Transitions Strategy.
• Development of multi-agency record keeping standards

Adults
• Development of financial abuse campaign materials
• Transitions strategy in place

Focus areas 2018-19
Children

• The development and testing  of a new ‘challenge clinic’ process to highlight work 
undertaken by local agencies to turn the Neglect strategy into action, providing robust 
challenge, testing for impact and sharing best practice across the partnership.

Adults 
 Peer review process

Page 67



40 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

 Embed the Allegations Management process across all agencies 
 Strengthening the approach to Making Safeguarding Personal across the Partnership 

Attendance 
Attendance at the children’s sub group meetings averaged at 57.5% for the year.
Attendance at the adult sub group meetings averaged at 39.3% for the year.

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) – Rochdale 

In Bury, Oldham and Rochdale (BRO) in 2016/17, a total of 69 child deaths were notified and 
71 cases were closed across the tripartite. Of these, 31 child deaths notified and 26 cases 
closed were from Rochdale.  For the tripartite, this is a 39% increase of the total number of 
cases closed compared to 2016/17. The number of cases closed is not reflective of the date 
of death. Cases cannot be closed to CDOP until all other investigations e.g. Coronial/Serious 
Case Review are concluded.

For Bury, Rochdale and Oldham, 46% of cases closed in 2017/18 included modifiable 
factors. For Rochdale, 58% of cases closed included modifiable factors. 

Consanguinity is a recurring theme in a number of deaths across the tripartite. For Rochdale, 
8% of 26 cases closed showed consanguinity as a feature. This is considerably lower than 
Oldham (23% of 31 cases) and Bury (14% of 11 cases closed). 

In terms of ethnicity, 62% of cases closed in Rochdale were White British. 31% of cases 
closed were BME and 7% of cases were not known.

Within the Greater Manchester CDOP Annual Report, smoking in the household/pregnancy 
is analysed in depth and it is likely that this will be addressed in the local report. The table 
below shows the number of cases where smoking is identified as a factor that may have or 
did contribute to the deaths of infants under 1 year old. 

Local Authority Smoking identified as a factor that may 
have or did contribute to the death (2 & 3)

Smoking at time of 
delivery %

Bury 22% 11.6
Oldham 18% 13.3
Rochdale 29% 16.3

Rates of obesity are rising nationally and across GM and so data regarding maternal BMI 
continue to be gathered from all CDOP’s. Again, this is analysed within the Greater 
Manchester Annual Report for CDOP’s and will likely be analysed in local reports. The table 
below shows the breakdown of maternal BMI categories for cases closed for Rochdale.

BMI Category Number Percentage

Underweight (>18.5) 3 12%
Healthy (18.5-24.9) 4 15%
Overweight (25-29.9) 5 19%
Obese (30-39.9) 5 19%
BMI Not Input 9 35%

Page 68



41 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

All trends are explored further through the Greater Manchester Annual Report and the local 
report which will be available on the LSCB websites once available.

Child Sexual Exploitation and the Sunrise Team

108 young people were open to the Sunrise Team in 2017/18. Over 50% of the assessments 
completed were of young people between the ages of between 14 and 15 years old. The 
number of males open to the team increased from the previous year (15% to 17%); with one 
young person identifying themselves as trans (identifying themselves as female although 
assigned gender at birth male).

The predominant ethnicity of the young people 
open to the team has remained as White British 
but has reduced to 85% of the cohort this year 
compared to 91% in the previous year. 

The performance data for the team has remained good with 100% of children referred to the 
Sunrise Team being allocated a Sunrise social worker, 91% over the year being allocated 
within the same or next working day. Feedback from young people open to the team 
continues to be highly positive.

Sunrise Police continue to play a key role in the protection strategy – this includes disrupting, 
investigating, arresting and charging offenders of CSE crimes. This is achieved through 
proactive community based activities (Operation Noric), joint working with the Partnership 
Enforcement Team (Operation Maverick), positive Police response to intelligence, 
undertaking of complex investigations and operations, and integrated working as a multi-
agency team. 

Operation Noric, the team’s proactive community based strategy, undertook the following 
actions over the last year:

Disruption Activity Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total

Number of hotspot locations 
visited

28 35 23 7 93

White British
Pakistani
Mixed
Other

ETHNICITY

Page 69



42 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Number of offenders who 
have had disruption visits

7 10 2 17 36

Number of businesses who 
have had disruption visits

11 8 20 6 45

The amount of intelligence created from this proactive activity was highlighted as a key 
factor of the strength of this strategy within the peer review of the Sunrise Team detailed 
later in this report.

Sunrise Police have a continued focus on proactive policing and safeguarding which is 
evidenced by the following:

Investigations/Prosecutions Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total

Number of public protection 
investigations

59 92 80 56 287

Number of criminal 
investigations

72 51 87 42 252

Number of offenders receiving 
a caution or being charged

3 5 7 2 17

The number of public protection investigations recorded for this year has focused specifically 
on the number of investigations undertaken by the team (287), and has not included the 
number of ‘public protection investigations’ generated due to strategy meetings and referrals 
to Children’s Social Care arising from information / intelligence on police systems (833), 
which have been included in the overall figures in previous years.

The number of public protection investigations and crimes has increased over the last year. 
Criminal investigations undertaken by the Sunrise Police have increased from 144 (2016-
2017) to 252 (2017-2018). This rise is linked to one operation involving online offences; as 
well as an increase in recording due to National Crime Recording Standards.

Sunrise Police Operations 

The Sunrise Police Team has had 6 significant operations which have been time consuming 
and resource intensive over the course of the year in respect of CSE crimes – 3 Operations 
continued from the previous year. 

Operation Grip concluded in September 2017 resulting in 3 convictions of grooming a child 
under 16 for 3 separate offenders.

2 Operations from 2016/2017 remain ongoing, the detail of which cannot be included in this 
report until concluded. Both of these Operations relate to offences committed online against 
numerous young people across the UK. 

There have been 3 new CSE Operations; these have all been in relation to historical CSE 
offences. 2 Detectives in the Sunrise Team have been detached from the core team to 

Page 70



43 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

enable them to focus specifically on these operations. 2 are current Operations, 1 Operation 
Boston has concluded. 

Operation Boston relates to a sexual exploitation of a number of females by one offender. 
Due to the level of evidence against the offender he subsequently pleaded guilty to 19 
charges covering at least 289 sexual offences against 5 children and has received a 
custodial sentence of 11 years (60 years concurrent). Due to the crimes being historical and 
pre 2003, the Judge was limited by old sentencing guidelines – the maximum amount being 
14 years; 3 years were reduced for early guilty plea. The number of actual sentences given 
for offences against each child equate to 60 years.  This operation has now concluded.

The quality of the investigations undertaken by the Sunrise Police Team as well as the 
evidence collated through analysis of technology and sharing of intelligence is illustrated by 
the number of successful prosecutions where offenders have pleaded guilty pre-trial. 

Between April 2017 and March 2018 12 offenders have been prosecuted by the team for 
offences ranging from breaches of orders and sexual communications with children to sexual 
assaults and rapes. These prosecutions have resulted in 54 convictions for 324 offences and 
custodial sentences totalling over 48 years imprisonment. 

Notable sentences are 19 ½ years custodial sentence for one offender found guilty of 11 
rape offences and 11 years custodial sentence for one offender convicted of 19 offences 
including rapes. 

In addition there have been non-custodial sentences including 3 suspended sentences and 
court orders imposed to prevent further offences. A total of 11 Sexual Harm Prevention 
Orders (SHPO) and requirements for registration on the Sexual Offender’s Register (SOR) 
have been imposed by the courts as a result of the prosecutions.

The 2017 Phoenix (Greater Manchester response to CSE) Peer Review took place at 
Rochdale on 6th September 2017. This involved two Phoenix Teams reviewing one another, 
with independent panel members present to provide structure and document the reviews. 
The two Teams involved in the Review were Rochdale and Tameside; two very well 
established and experienced teams. The review was extremely positive highlighting the 
continuing good practice and innovation of the Sunrise Team.

The Team continued to provide multi-agency practitioner CSE training throughout the year. 
Presentations in schools and colleges were also a significant feature of the preventative 
work undertaken.

The key focus of the team over the forthcoming year will be the development of the team into 
a Complex Safeguarding Team, reflecting the approach being implemented across Greater 
Manchester. 

The strategy of prevention, protection, prosecution and public and professional confidence 
will continue to provide a firm basis for the team’s work but the scope will need to broaden 
and evolve in order to address emerging complex safeguarding issues specifically in relation 
to the exploitation of children.

 

Page 71



44 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Allegations Management

The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) has a responsibility for the management and 
oversight of allegations against adults who work with children and reports to the RBSCB on 
a regular basis. LADO training this year has been focused on key services identified in the 
LADO Service Plan 2017 – 2018. LADO has trained 29 multi agency staff this year on 
Allegations management via the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children Board Multi 
Agency Training programme & also targeted single agency sessions. LADO has also trained 
31 multi-agency staff this year on safer working practices via the Rochdale Borough 
Safeguarding Children Board Multi Agency Training programme. There has been a decrease 
in the number of staff trained in safer working practice’s between 2017 – 2018 as the training 
has been provided to agencies for them to deliver internally.

The total number of contacts to LADO was 438 opposed to 368 contacts in 2016-2017 (19% 
decreases in the total contacts). This reduction is likely to be as a result of the training 
provided to services and therefore becoming more confident in manging conduct issues 
internally as opposed to bringing them in under allegations management.

52 out of a possible 58 meetings took place within the 5 working day timescale; this equates 
to 90%.  This is an increase on the number held within time scales in 2016 / 2017, where 
88% where held within timescales. Employers are increasingly consistent in responding and 
managing allegations since clear dates and timescales are set at the initial strategy meeting. 
However there are 15 on-going cases awaiting either police or internal employer 
investigations; these are chased up by LADO on a monthly basis. 

The RBSCB has received the LADO annual report and will continue to request regular 
updates on activity and response through it Quality Assurance Sub Group. Any exceptions 
will be raised at the RBSCB through this group.

Page 72



45 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

10. Serious Case Reviews and 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews
During the course of 2017/18, the RBSCB were notified of 14 cases. Of these, 8 cases were 
screened for Serious Case Review. Three Serious Case Reviews were commissioned along 
with one Learning Lessons Review.  Details of the commissioned reviews are below. 

Child L (published)

This Serious Case Review concerns a child who was found dead in the family home. Child L 
was actively known to Children’s Social Care, Early Help and Schools RBC, and the Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Service as a Child in Need. This review was published in 
September 2017 on the RBSCB website along with a summary of the case, key themes and 
learning.

Child M (complete awaiting publication)

This Serious Case Review was commissioned following the death of a baby. The child died 
from non-accidental injuries including multiple bruising and a serious head injury, indicative 
of shaking. Following investigation, Child M’s step-father was found guilty of murder and 
mother was found guilty of causing or allowing death or serious injury to a child. The review 
will be published on the RBSCB website following the conclusion of the Independent Office 
for Police Conduct (IOPC) investigation and coronial investigation.  

Children X1/X2 (in progress)

This Serious Case Review involves the serious injury to twins aged 3 years. Following the 
emergency admission to hospital of one of the twins, significant bruising and a subdural 
haematoma indicative of abusive head trauma was identified. The other twin also had 
bruising indicative of non-accidental injury. This Serious Case Review is currently in 
progress.

Key themes include neglect, bruising on children, parental drug and alcohol misuse

Child Z (in progress)

This Serious Case Review involves the death of a child 

Key themes include neglect, parental mental health, disguised compliance, domestic abuse, 
multi-agency working and use of escalation procedures.

Child E (complete awaiting publication)

This Serious Case Review concerns a baby who died, aged 3 months old, whilst in the 
care of mother. Child E was only known to universal services and was never subject to a 
multi-agency plan. 

Page 73

https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/SCR/SCR%20Learning%20Brief%20Child%20L.pdf


46 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Kay themes include neglect, safe sleeping, non-attendance at medical appointments 
and parental drug use.

Learning Lessons Reviews:

Child 1 2017 (complete)

This Learning Lessons Review was commissioned because of concerns raised regarding 
multi- agency recognition of, and response to, injuries to a non-mobile infant. Learning from 
the review has been incorporated in to multi-agency training, briefings and newsletters. 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

Adult C (published)

Against a background of increasing immobility and susceptibility to urinary tract 
infections Adult C was at high risk of developing pressure sores. Following a series of 
falls, Adult C was admitted from home to Emergency respite care. Opportunities to 
conduct a full physical examination were missed and by the time concerns were raised 
by staff, a Grade 4 pressure sore had developed. Adult C was admitted to hospital but 
died from septicaemia resulting from the pressure sore.

This review was published in September 2017 on the RBSAB website along with a summary 
of the case, key themes and learning.

Links to full reports and learning materials for all SCR/SAR can be 
found in the appendices section of this report

Page 74

https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/7%20Minute%20briefing/7MB%20bruising.pdf
https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/Newsletters/Edition%201%20Summer%20-%202018.pdf
https://www.rbsab.org/UserFiles/Docs/Adult%20C%20SAR.pdf


47 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

11.  Financial Contributions

Page 75



48 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Appendix 1

Page 76



49 RBSCB &RBSAB Annual Report 2017-18 Final

Appendix 2

Links to Further Information

1. Full agency supplementary information 
2. Children’s Needs and Response Framework
3. Our Rochdale - health, social care, childcare and family services 
4. RBSCB Arrangements
5. RBSAB Constitution
6. CDOP annual report (awaiting publication)
7. Published SCR and associated documents
8. Published SAR and associated documents

Page 77

https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/AnnualReports/Agency%20supplementary%20information%202017-18.docx
https://www.rbscb.org/professionals/children-s-needs-response-framework/
https://www.ourrochdale.org.uk/kb5/rochdale/directory/home.page
https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/RBSCB%20Arrangements%20January%202018.pdf
https://www.rbscb.org/UserFiles/Docs/RBSCB%20Arrangements%20January%202018.pdf
https://www.rbsab.org/UserFiles/Docs/RBSAB%20Constitution%20February%202018.pdf
https://www.rbsab.org/UserFiles/Docs/RBSAB%20Constitution%20February%202018.pdf
https://www.rbscb.org/professionals/rochdale-serious-case-reviews/
https://www.rbsab.org/professionals/safeguarding-adult-reviews/


Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 28th November 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document Public 

Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2018-19 Quarter 2 
Performance Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 2 (1st July – 30th September 2018) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Adult Care Directorate 
Plan 2018-19, Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 and Public Health 
Directorate Plan 2018-19.  

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

3.2

In accordance with the Council’s performance management framework. 
Progress towards the targets contained in directorate plans are to be reported 
to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each quarter. 

The Quarter 2 progress reports for the Adult Care Directorate, Children’s 
Services Directorate and Public Health Directorate are attached at Appendices 
1, 2 and 3. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria.

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date 
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green:  Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track
The appendices include a commentary against actions that are showing red, 
amber, green or purple

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



3.3 This year the directorate plans are formatted differently to include milestones 
for each directorate action. This enables O&S to monitor the work that must be 
completed, to support achievement of the action

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Adult Care Directorate Plan 2018-19 Progress

Performance Overview

100% (6) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2018-19 are still 
ongoing. The chart below shows the overall performance of the Directorate in 
meeting its plan targets at the end of Quarter 2.

The actions that are not fully complete but are within the action due date 
(Purple) relate to:
 Transformation of integrated services
 Further development of support to improve outcomes for service users
 Further development of mental health service arrangements
 Increase the effectiveness of enablement and other services that 

reduce the need for hospital level care
 Further develop support for younger people with learning disabilities
 Further development of the service quality assurance function

Quarter 2 Highlights
Work is ongoing with Pennine Acute relating to Discharge 2 Assess 
placements. Springhill is due to open imminently and Millfield opened on the 
1st October 2018.  Work is ongoing in the CCG for the joint funded personal 
health budgets. Ongoing work through deflections and care plans focusing on 
strengths based approaches means an increase in needs met in a different 
way. Work is ongoing re community person centred support meaning more 
people are having needs met informally or via universal services.

The final elements are to be put in place for the Mental Health leadership 
structure. There is now a dementia steering group which has been 

Page 79



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

established. The new AMHP(approved mental health practitioner) hub is now 
live.

Delayed Transfer of Care is still above prescribed target. Patient flow is 
improving with enhancements through the reablement service and 78% year 
to date were successfully reabled through our stars service. Currently, 86% of 
service users discharged from hospital into a reablement service are still at 
home 91 days after discharge; which is a good performance nationally.

Links have been established with children’s services for joint working and work 
is underway on the transition project. Work is still ongoing with commissioners 
to increase the number of people with a learning disability who are in paid 
employment.

The internal enhanced quality assurance function is now in place with the 
current framework under review and redevelopment. There are CHC 
(Continuing Health Care) trials ongoing to test the process for joint health and 
social care assessments with an aim for early 2019 for joint packages of care. 
The managing allegations process and training has been delivered and 
continues to be embedded. The service completed all the mandatory GDPR 
audits in June and now a programme of review is to start - ensuring all 
recommendations are being addressed.

Performance Issues
None

Children’s Services  Directorate Plan 2018-19 Progress

Performance Overview
92% (12) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2018-19 are still ongoing. 
One further action has passed the action due date and is not complete. The 
chart below shows the overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its 
plan targets at the end of Quarter 2. 

The actions that are not fully complete but are within the action date (Purple) 

Page 80



4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

relate to:
 Implement the School improvement Strategy to improve pupil 

achievement at all key stages
 Deliver the Family Service Model including the roll out of Locality 

Teams
 Embed the Early Help Strategy
 Alternative delivery model for youth service
 Continued implementation of SEND (Special Educational Needs / 

Disabilities) reforms
 Lead the development of a School Readiness Strategy and embed 

practice in line with the School Readiness Action Plan
 Implement the Ofsted Action Plan
 Redesign and implement the revised model for out of hours response 

for the most vulnerable children and adults
 Develop shared and innovative services to respond to children and 

families complex needs
 Improve workforce stability
 Improve placement sufficiency for cared for children
 Implement revised statutory changes in Working Together 2018 to all 

safeguarding activity

The action that is not fully complete and has passed the action due date 
(Amber) relates to:
 To provide sufficient school places for all children within the Borough.

Quarter 2 Highlights
The consultation for the schools strategy was completed at the end of the 
summer term and was implemented at the start of the Autumn term. The 
primary/secondary progression/transition project has extended its reach and 
remit. The bid for strategic school improvement funding was unsuccessful 
however we have progressed to delivery of the EYFS (Early Years Foundation 
Stage) Language and Communication Strategy. The Schools’ Strategy has 
strengthened the accountability framework around the collaborative 
partnership in addition to supporting the partnerships through the 
Collaborative Partnership Development and Challenge role.

Primary and secondary school places are subject to ongoing review. Cabinet 
approval gained in March 2018 for further expansions to meet forecasted 
need. Additionally, 2 secondary Free Schools are required in the Borough for 
2020 and 2022 respectively. The Fair Access Protocol is under review with 
schools to ensure swifter but fair allocation of school places.

Locality network groups meet on a regular basis and are attracting significant 
numbers from a wide range of partner organisations. They feed into the family 
service model operational group and contribute to performance monitoring.

The Early Help Strategy is being embedded through regular reporting to CYPP 
(Children and Young Person’s Partnership) and safeguarding. Quality 
assurance audits have been conducted in April 2018.

Options appraisal has been completed for the youth service with no change to 

Page 81



4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

the delivery model.

The second SEND Action Plan is now in place and progress is being tracked 
via the CWD (Children with disabilities) partnership Board. Some key areas of 
work include: 2 day peer challenge visit, independent legal training around the 
ECHP (Education Health and Care Plan) process as well as building work on 
the ASC (Autistic Spectrum Conditions) provision space with 2 mainstream 
schools. We are submitting a bid for a 75 place free special school for children 
with ASC. Agreed shared definition of SEN Support after the development of 
the SEN Support Policy pro-forma. Currently we are piloting a universal SEN 
Support plan that can be used from early years through to secondary to 
support the vision that the family only need to tell their story once.

Task group established to support development of a school readiness 
strategy.

Key actions from the Ofsted action plan have been implemented including 
revised QA framework, EHASH model launched, locality teams in place. There 
is a clear plan of how to move the permanence strategy forward.

The shared service has continued to be explored in respect of EDT 
(Emergency Duty Team). The project lead in Bury has completed a paper on 
what a shared service could look like and presented options for Rochdale to 
consider. Expect to agree a model by early November 2018.

Complex safeguarding lead has been appointed for GM and a work plan will 
be developed. Currently progressing plans to have a co-located service that 
will manage local complex safeguarding issues on a multi-agency basis.
The co-design has started in respect of the local offer around complex 
safeguarding. Monies have been obtained from GMCA in order to lead on a 
strengthened early help/prevention approach to children and young people. 
The plans submitted by Rochdale outlining how this would be used were 
accepted. 

Project plan and Project board now in place to drive implementation of NAAS 
(national assessment and accreditation system).  “Leading Relational Practice 
programme” commenced in July and builds on previous Strengthening 
Practice Programme in Rochdale.

A cohort of children have been identified who need a bespoke family finding 
approach. Process and procedure has been agreed in how to progress this. 
Transformation monies have been obtained. Assessment and gap analysis is 
being undertaken in respect of foster carers to identify support needs. 

A meeting was held with key partner agencies to consider the proposed 
changes within Working Together 2018. Key representatives across the region 
have been agreed and there are a number of key areas of development being 
considered including scrutiny and oversight of the regional arrangements. 
There is also opportunity to consider those areas where GM Local Authorities 
can come together to ensure effective and coordinated work is undertaken 
where appropriate. Working Together 2018 has now been published outlining 

Page 82



4.26

4.27

4.28

4.29

what is working well and the changes needed around safeguarding activity.

Performance Issues
None

Public Health  & Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 Progress

Performance Overview
94% (17) actions included in the Directorate Plan 2018-19 are still ongoing.  
The chart below shows the overall performance of the Directorate in meeting 
its plan targets at the end of Quarter 2. 

The actions that are not fully complete but are within the action date (Purple) 
relate to:
 Provide a resilient and robust health protection system
 Develop and implement the Integrated Prevention System Model 
 Lead the programme management and delivery of the prevention and 

access theme of the Rochdale Locality Plan
 Support and enable the development of a strong and resilient Voluntary 

Sector
 Lead the development of the Integrated Strategic Intelligence Function 

on behalf of the council, CCG and LCO
 Lead the local mental health service transformation
 Develop and implement a 3 year multi-agency Tobacco control Action 

Plan aligned to the GM tobacco Strategy and action plan
 Implement a new delivery model for the Public Protection Service
 Reduce avoidable deaths related to cardiovascular disease
 Undertake a robust review of Link 4 Life and related leisure and culture 

services arrangements to ensure they are resilient and fit for purpose 
for the next 5-10 years

 Implement agreed GM Population Health Plan programmes at a local 
level 

Page 83



4.30

4.31

4.32

4.33

4.34

4.35

4.36

4.37

 To lead agreed areas of the GM Population Health Plan on behalf of 
GM

 Develop and implement a behaviour change programme part of the 
wider commitment to changing the conversation between citizen and 
state.

 Reduce childhood obesity
 Robust commissioning of key prescribed and non-prescribed services
 Address key under-performing PH health outcomes relating to sexual 

health and oral health
 Complete a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on Adverse Childhood 

Experiences

The action that is not fully complete and has passed the action due date 
(Amber) relates to:
 Reduce avoidable deaths related to cancers

Quarter 2 Highlights
The outbreak plan has been developed across all agencies and will be signed 
off in Q3. A local screening uptake group has been meeting to improve uptake 
of breast, cervical and bowel screening and support has been provided to 
primary care colleagues. The annual flu programme will commence in Q3 for 
2018/19 season including the staff vaccination programme.

The Integrated Prevention system ‘Connecting You’ has been launched with 
all staff recruited. The Community Connectors have collated a robust data set 
which is now informing processes and the evaluation framework for the 
system as a whole. The new community builder posts that have been recruited 
through transformation funding. To help facilitate their work in relation to 
strengthening community assets the Connecting You: Seed Fund has been 
established. This is a micro-grant fund of up to £2K amounts to help groups 
establish and strengthen community assets.

All transformation projects in the Prevention and Access theme are now 
implemented and delivering. The Prevention and Access Partnership Board is 
in place and overseeing the delivery of both GM and local transformation 
work.

Aim to award the contract for a new voluntary sector infrastructure support 
organisation in November with the organisation going live in January 2019.

Intelligence work undertaken has included the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, adult neighbourhood profiles, analysis and briefings on a range 
of health data sets and work on developing outcomes and indicators for health 
and social care transformation. The ACE needs assessment has been 
procured and will commence in Q3.

To support the transformation of mental health services the local suicide 
prevention group continues to meet and the action plan refreshed. 

Priorities around tobacco for the next 2 years have been agreed. The lead for 
the adult smoking transformation project is now in post and is developing the 

Page 84



4.38

4.39

4.40

4.41

4.42

4.43

4.44

4.45

4.46

implementation plan to establish a Pennine Acute Trust wide approach to 
tobacco addiction.

Following a process of engagement and participation Public Protection 
Service moved from Public Health and Well-being to Neighbourhoods 
Directorate from 1 October 2018.

A local group was established and supported to improve uptake of cervical, 
breast and bowel cancer to reduce avoidable deaths. Plans currently 
underway to assimilate Rochdale into a GM framework once current contract 
with Living Well Taking Control ends to prevent deaths related to 
cardiovascular disease.

A post has been recruited to deliver new ways of working between L4L and 
council services.

Public Health, together with leads from across the council, have come 
together to progress RBC in becoming a gold standard workplace wellbeing 
employer. Workforce Wellbeing stakeholder event is being planned for 
January 2019. The GM Suicide Prevention Plan was developed and publicised 
widely on Suicide Prevention Day in September across Greater Manchester.

29 organisations/teams have signed up to the Sugar Smart UK website and 
together 34 actions to reduce sugar have been put in place. The next phase is 
to encourage those partners to record all the interventions. We have 
developed an information and activity pack for all children in reception (and 
their parents) to be delivered as part of our National Child Measurement 
Programme. 29 schools are undertaking the daily mile; 6,730 children take 
part in the Daily Mile at least once a week. We aim to support 10 schools to 
implement the Daily Mile by March 2019. The Daily Toddle is now being rolled 
out to all private and voluntary in September 2018

Implementation of new drug and alcohol service completed and contract and 
performance meetings now underway Pennine Care Health Visiting and 
School Nursing contracts likely to be extended for a year to align with Family 
Services model.

The adverse childhood needs assessment is in the process of being procured

Performance Issues
None

Alternatives Considered
None

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None

Page 85



Risk and Policy Implications

Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under the 
Children Acts 1989 and 2004. They also have statutory duties under the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and the associated regulations, being the 
Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 in respect of eligible and relevant 
and former relevant children i.e. current and future cohorts of children who 
have left or will leave the local authority’s care.

The nature of services provided to children and families involve managing 
significant levels of risk. High quality early intervention and social care 
services reduce the likelihood of children suffering harm and increase the 
likelihood of children developing into successful adults and achieving and 
succeeding.

The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities
Duty which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010

 advance equality of opportunity and  foster good relations between 
people from different groups

 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of 
equality into day business and keep them under review in decision 
making, the design of policies and the delivery of services

Equalities and Diversity considerations are a key element of the Council’s 
approach to safeguarding and work with care leavers.

6.

Consultation

7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Adult Care Directorate Plan 2018-
19

Children’s Services Directorate 
Plan 2018-19

Public Health Directorate Plan 
2018-19

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale OL16 1XU

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, , 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 86



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  4 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

16 July 2018 
 

  

         

   

AC18001 Transformation of integrated services  31 March 2019   

Work continues to integrate and align complex teams along with more formal arrangements through memorandums of understanding. Actions 
and progress are at expected levels at the end of quarter 2 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18001.A Develop new integrated arrangements with NHS provider colleagues  31 March 2019   

 AC18001.B Further develop new Neighbourhood teams  31 March 2019   

 AC18001.C Develop as an active partner in the new LCO  31 March 2019   

 AC18001.D 
 

Further integrate Mental Health and Learning Disability Services into 
the new arrangements   

31 March 2019 
 

  

 

 

  

 

AC18002 Further development of support  to improve outcomes for 
service users 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: 50% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people. Whole service target of 35% of PBs to be taken as a 
cash budget.... 2% reduction in long term care placements for older and physically disabled people Target to be 243 placements....5% reduction in long term 
care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 
50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social capital by March 2019.Delaying the need for further 
assessment....Reduction in care packages commensurate with transformation plan.. 

 

The service has achieved 38% at the end of August and the target of 50% is expected to be achieved at year end. Work is ongoing with Pennine 
Acute relating to Discharge 2 Assess placements. The number of permanent placements is slightly higher than target but the proportional 
variance shows there are less people in a permanent placement than the same time last year. The number of placements is being regularly 
scrutinised and to date, this measure is just on track. Springhill is due to open imminently and Millfield opens on the 1st October 2018.  Work is 
ongoing in the CCG for the joint funded personal health budgets. ..Ongoing work through deflections and care plans focusing on strengths based 
approaches means an increase in needs met in a different way. Work is ongoing re community person centred support meaning more people are 
having needs met informally or via universal services ... 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18002.A Develop support planning to make better use of peoples own and 
community resources 

31 March 2019   

 AC18002.B Increase the % of people who use cash budgets 31 March 2019   

 AC18002.C Further reduce long term care home placements 31 March 2019   

 AC18002.D Develop health personal budgets as part of joint packages of care 31 March 2019   

 AC18002.E Act on recommendations of review of Greave house and Mental 
Health supported living schemes to support improved outcomes and 
independence for people with significant long term mental health 
needs  

31 March 2019   

 AC18002.F Extend the range of care and support options for people with learning 
disabilities  

31 March 2019   

 

P
age 87



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  4 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

16 July 2018 
 

  

         

 AC18002.G Look at opportunities for further integration of process/polices across 
specialist LD services 

31 March 2019  

 

 

  

 

AC18003 Further development of mental health service arrangements  31 March 2019   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved Mental 
Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments..... 

 

The final elements are to be put in place for the Mental Health leadership structure - ongoing. There is now a dementia steering group which has 
been established. ADASS dementia guidance is to be shared and information to be available on Our Rochdale and Staywell. The new 
AMHP(approved mental health practitioner) hub is now live.. 
 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18003.A  Improve social care governance and service delivery as part of the 
joint service provided by RBC and Pennine Care Foundation NHS 
trust (mental health provider)  

31 March 2019   

 AC18003.B Work with commissioners to develop and implement a new Dementia 
offer  

31 March 2019   

 AC18003.C Develop a stronger dedicated Approved Mental Health Practitioner 
(AMHP) service which improves access, and assures quality and 
increases consistency of practice under the Mental health Act and 
supports emergency duty team working. 

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

AC18004 Increase the effectiveness of enablement and other services 
that reduce the need for hospital level care 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced in line with LCO target for 18/19....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....77% of people who use reablement services to be reabled or a reduced package of care....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality 
plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at home 91 days. 

 

Delayed Transfer of Care is still above prescribed target however this target is under review in line with GM direction. Patient flow is improving 
with enhancements through the reablement service and 78% year to date were successfully reabled through our stars service. The waiting time 
for people medically fit for discharge is reported weekly on the systems resilience report and tracked. Our home in a day service is proving 
successful and has been nominated for a national award. Currently, 86% of service users discharged from hospital into a reablement service are 
still at home 91 days after discharge which is a good performance nationally.. 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18004.A Putting Integrated Discharge Teams in place across Pennine Acute 
/Pennine care Hospitals Sites 

31 March 2019   

 AC18004.B Increasing the % of people able to be independent as a result of 
enablement services 

31 March 2019   

 AC18004.C Set up a community flow service which will include proactive case 31 March 2019   

 

P
age 88



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  4 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

16 July 2018 
 

  

         

follow up for designated “stranded” cases and also a coordinated 
trusted assessment function for long term care settings |(for receipt 
of D2A recovery cases) 

 AC18004.D Extending the social care offer at A&E departments with partner  
organisations to reduce unnecessary admissions 

31 March 2019   

 

  

 

AC18005 Further develop support for younger people with learning 
disabilities 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: The establishment of a specific borough wide team to link more with Children with Disability services as part of the development of a 0 – 25yrs 
service for children and young people ....7% of adults with a learning disability to be in paid employment.... 

 

Links have been established with childrens for joint working and work is underway on the transition project. Work is still ongoing with 
commissioners to increase the number of people with a learning disability who are in paid employment. The service is slowing increasing this and 
the expectation is that the 7% target should be achieved by year end.. 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18005.A We will strengthen the transition arrangement, and  for young people 
with the most complex needs 

31 March 2019   

 AC18005.B Increase the options for more people with learning disabilities to gain 
and keep employment, working with commissioners, established 
employment support providers and employers  

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

AC18006 Further development of the service quality assurance function  31 March 2019   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures   

The internal enhanced quality assurance function is now in place with the current framework under review and redevelopment. The quality 
assurance framework will be reported every quarter to the Adult Social Care Strategic Partnership Board with greater depth and analysis to 
provide assurance of standards. ..There are CHC trials ongoing to test the process for joint health and social care assessments with an aim for 
early 2019 for joint packages of care. ..The managing allegations process and training has been delivered and continues to be embedded. The 
service completed all the mandatory GDPR audits in June and now a programme of review is to start - ensuring all recommendations are being 
addressed... 

27/09/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 AC18006.A Further develop the quality assurance framework for service delivery 
with clear standards of service met. New framework compliance to be 
monitored by the internal quality assurance team 

31 March 2019   

 AC18006.B Trial joint health and social care assessments within the Allis system 31 March 2019   

 AC18006.C Embed the managing allegations process, procedures and practice 
within Adult Care and partners 

31 March 2019   

 AC18006.D Reviewing social work practice governance in the joint Mental Health 
service 

31 March 2019   

 

P
age 89



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  4 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

16 July 2018 
 

  

         

 AC18006.E Work with the new enhanced carers service offer to maximise the 
number of carers supported. 

31 March 2019   

 AC18006.F Complete audits by the end of June 2019 to comply with GDPR 
implementation 

31 March 2019   

 

  

 

   

   

   

   

     

   

   

   

 

P
age 90



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

   
   

CS18001 Implement the School improvement Strategy  to improve pupil 
achievement at all key stages 

 31 March 2019   

The consultation for the schools strategy was completed at the end of the summer term and was implemented at the start of the Autumn term, 
September 1st 2018. The primary/secondary progression/transition project has extended its reach and remit. The initial focus on English has 
continued and there is now an additional focus on mathematics. The bid for strategic school improvement funding was unsuccessful however 
from the Autumn term 2018, we have progressed to delivery of the EYFS Language and Communication Strategy. Improvements in reading 
outcomes at the end of key stage 2 2018 evidence significant progress and impact of a number of pilot initiatives which will be incorporated in the 
borough wide reading strategy. The implementation of the Schools’ Strategy has strengthened the accountability framework around the 
collaborative partnership in addition to supporting the partnerships through the Collaborative Partnership Development and Challenge role. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18001.A Implementation of Schools~ Strategy 2018 – 2019  31 December 2018   

 CS18001.B Establishment of Strategic Primary School Improvement Board 30 December 2018   

 CS18001.C Extend reach of primary/secondary progression/transition project   30 September 2018   

 CS18001.D Delivery of EYFS Language and Communication Strategy 31 March 2019   

 CS18001.E Development of Borough Wide Reading Strategy 31 March 2019   

 CS18001.F Improve the effectiveness of the collaborative partnerships 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

 

CS18002 To provide sufficient school places for all children within the 
Borough.  

 30 September 2018   

Primary and secondary school places are subject to ongoing review. Cabinet approval gained in March 2018 for further expansions to meet 
forecasted need. Additionally, 2 secondary Free Schools are required in the Borough for 2020 and 2022 respectively, the Council has approved 
release of sites for these and the Altus Trust is to submit bids to establish these schools to the DFE in the Autumn term. Robust allocation 
procedures are already in place for the `Normal Admissions Round. School` - entry to reception and Year 7. Admissions are not complacent and 
constantly review methods of promoting the processes and access to the same. For example the introduction of weekly drop in sessions (Sept to 
Jan) to run alongside the on line application system. As officers confidence with own admission authorities has waned recently, work has been 
done within existing forums to highlight concerns and offer further support and guidance. The Fair Access Protocol is under review with schools 
to ensure swifter but fair allocation under this process. Availability of school places is very tight in some year groups in some areas and requires 
close working with the place planning officer Fay Davies. The annual School Building Maintenance Programme for 2018/19 has been prioritised, 
commissioned and is scheduled to be delivered in line with agreed timescales and budgets. Feasibility studies and construction projects have 
been commissioned for new school places and are on target to be delivered within timescale and budget. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18002.A Adequate number of primary, secondary and special school places.  30 September 2018   

 CS18002.B Robust allocation process for school admissions. 30 September 2018   

 CS18002.C Effective management and maintenance of assets and delivery of 30 September 2018   

 

P
age 91



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

improvement and expansion projects. 
 

  

 

CS18003 Deliver the Family Service Model including the roll out of 
Locality Teams 

 31 March 2019   

Locality network groups have been in place since the launch events of January 2018, before then for Heywood and Middleton. They continue to 
meet on a regular basis and are attracting significant numbers from a wide range of partner organisations. The networks have reported updates 
to the FSM operational group and contribute to the performance framework which is monitored monthly. Reports are submitted to the Strategic 
group from the Operational groups and localities networks including performance framework reports. The training has now been commissioned 
from Strengthening Practice for the Hub and Locality enabler teams and will commence in July 2018. A second phase roll out to wider partners is 
possible for 2019-20. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18003.A Establish network and steering groups within each locality to support 
local delivery. 

31 March 2018   

 CS18003.B Establish  strategic steering group to oversee and guide delivery at a 
senior management level 

31 March 2018   

 CS18003.C Establish a performance framework to track progress of 
implementation and any blockages to delivery 

30 April 2018   

 CS18003.D Provide regular exception reports to the strategic steering group and 
partnership board to track progress and sight blockages 

31 March 2019   

 CS18003.E Training to support cultural and behavioural change to ensure the 
locality and hub operate as a single entity 

30 June 2018   

 

 

  

 

CS18004 Embed the Early Help Strategy   30 June 2019   

Reports from the newly merged scorecards are taken regularly to the FSM Strategic and operational groups. Periodic reports on progress and 
barriers will be taken to CYPP and the Safeguarding Board as requested. QA audits on supervision and EHA's have been conducted since April 
2018 and these processes in EH / FSM are being aligned to Children's Services processes and OFSTED from July 2018. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18004.A Refresh and embed the Early Help strategy and promote to partners 
via the Family Service Model steering group. 

30 April 2018   

 CS18004.B Merge the Early Help and Family Service Model scorecards to 
produce a more comprehensive delivery monitoring framework. 

30 April 2018   

 CS18004.C Highlight implementation issues with key other partnership groups 
such as Children and Young Peoples Partnership (CYPP) and 
Safeguarding Children Board. 

31 March 2019   

 CS18004.D Pursue key quality developments as part of the OFSTED plan such as 
supervision, audits, Early Help Assessment Quality Assurance etc. 

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

P
age 92



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

CS18005 Alternative delivery model for youth service  30 June 2019   

Options appraisal has been completed resulting in no major change to current delivery model. Staff continue to provide a wide range of activities 
for YP across the Borough in a range of delivery styles and venues. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18005.A Options Appraisal completed 30 June 2018   

 CS18005.B Approval of preferred option agreed by Cabinet 30 September 2018   

 CS18005.C Effective management of transition into new delivery model 30 June 2019   

 CS18005.D Continued delivery of high quality provision to young people across 
the Borough during appraisal, transition  and implementation on new 
delivery model 

30 June 2019   

 

 

  

 

CS18006 Continued implementation of SEND (Special Educational 
Needs / Disabilities) reforms 

 31 March 2019   

The second SEND Action Plan is now in place and progress is being tracked via the CWD partnership Board. WE are preparing of update letter 
for the DFE on our continued joint progress against the action plan. We are preparing for our first 2 day Peer Challenge visit – this includes an 
update self-view to look at our area of development / strength and areas we see require further development and progress. Note in partnership 
with the Voice ( parent carers forum) we are planning some independent legal training around the ECHP process so that staff and parents learn 
together the legislative framework etc. Building work has commenced on the ASC provision space with 2 mainstream schools. We are submitting 
a bid for a 75 place free special school for children with ASC. WE continue to support mainstream school support children with ASC via training 
such as ASC School Champions and Setting (we trained 130 staff in 9 setting ) having completed the first years cohort We have now got the E 
learning model for all staff We run coffee morning type drop in for parents and schools to access support and advice to manage children in a 
school We are increasing the capacity with the ASC RANS team Note are ranked as the LA with the most children with ASC who have an EHC 
Plan supported in Mainstream in England. 
SEN Support Tracking work is being progress via the SEND Head Teacher task and finish Group. We have an agreed shared definition of SEN 
Support now We have developed for Schools a SEN Support Policy pro-forma. Currently we are piloting a universal SEN Support plan that can 
be used from early years through to secondary to support the vision that the family only need to tell their story once Work has been completed on 
the data cleansing around the SEN Support coding on the SIMMs Training via the SENCO network has been delivered on SEN Support / 
Graduated response and coding. Transition event took place on 10-10-18 where the Policy and strategy will be formally launch. The Launch is 
being presented jointly with parents to reinforce the collaborative approach taken in developing the strategy - this was followed up in the late 
afternoon by a session for young people and parents around the transition process. We are not able to fully progress the work on the integrated 0 
-25 model as this is dependent on Family Service Model and the commissioning of services. This has been accepted by the Challenge meeting. 
To prevent delay and drift steps across a range of teams have been made to seek to create a virtual teams E.G ESKW now attend the weekly 
CAONs meeting to ensure affective co working: monthly multi-agency complex cases discussion forum: work on a shared joint equipment 
purchasing point: joint team drop in surgeries for school and parents, Joint resource panels etc. . The Current Adults transition Team will be 
moving to sit with the CWD SW team within Number One riverside with them working as a whole team 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18006.A Progress the second phase of the SEND action plan –  31 March 2019   

 CS18006.B Increase ASC School provision within Rochdale through development 31 December 2018   

 

P
age 93



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

of resource provision and skills set  

 CS18006.C Develop the SEN Support plan and tracking  30 September 2018   

 CS18006.D Reduction in School exclusion of SEND children  see NDP7 31 March 2019   

 CS18006.E Launch of  transition Policy  31 October 2018   

 CS18006.F Further progress the Multi agency 0 – 25 service in line with Family 
Service Model  

31 March 2019   

 CS18006.G Explore and make application for achieving the SEND quality mark for 
the Youth Offending Service 

31 March 2019   

 

  

 

CS18007 Lead the development of a School Readiness Strategy  and 
embed practice  in line with the  School Readiness Action Plan 

 30 January 2019   

Task Group established, mapping of existing provision completed. Development work to commence shortly. Task Group Identified to progress, 
facilities booked. School Readiness conference organised for 23rd November. 30 hour delivery fund project implemented, 30 hour access 
increased from 917 children in Autumn 2017 to 1,610 children in Summer 2018.  

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18007.A Launch of the Parent Portal for families within Rochdale. 30 June 2018   

 CS18007.B School Readiness scorecard to include Greater Manchester 
indicators and regular reporting of performance outcomes to CYPP 
sub groups 

31 July 2018   

 CS18007.C Review of 1,001 days pathway pilot in Middleton,  learn lessons, scale 
up to borough level and align with GM 8 Stage Model 

30 September 2018   

 CS18007.D Further development of integrated working between Early Years, 
Childcare Settings and Health Visiting teams, implementation of 
nominated link practitioners, sharing of ASQ assessment information.  

30 September 2018   

 CS18007.E Lead the development of an Early years Communication and 
Language Pathway and inform a refreshed strategy.  

30 November 2018   

 CS18007.F C-ordinate and deliver a multi-agency Early Years / School Readiness 
Summit 

31 December 2018   

 CS18007.G Increase take up of 30 hours within wards where this is lower through 
implementation of the 30 hours delivery fund. 

31 January 2019   

 CS18007.H Audit of the Early Years Workforce and production of  workforce 
strategy linked to GM assessments and interventions 

31 January 2019   

 

 

  

 

CS18008 Implement the Ofsted Action Plan  31 December 2018   

Implementation of the revised QA framework and auditing schedule has taken place. A report has been produced and explanations made clear. 
Heads of service are moderating all managers audits. 
Revised the strengthening practice programme for phase 2 of the delivery the programme for SW's and managers. This has commenced. 

 

P
age 94



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

EHASH model launched. Locality teams in place. QA work showing an increased understanding and consistent application of thresholds. 
Strategic permanence group has met on 3 occasions. Commenced a baseline mapping for all cared 4 children in relation to plans of permanence 
and also to identify children who require life story. The strategic permanence group has agreed that a working group is to be set up to take 
forward actions for practice that are informed by the baseline findings. There is a clear plan of how to move the permanence strategy forward 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18008.A Improved quality of practice and management oversight 31 December 2018   

 CS18008.B Improved understanding and evaluation of what life is like for 
children and evaluation of the impact that practice has on improving 
their experience 

31 December 2018   

 CS18008.C Consistent application of threshold of need and decision making to 
step down or end care planning particularly for those children at risk 
of neglect or domestic abuse 

30 September 2018   

 CS18008.D All cared for children understand their own histories and have 
certainty about their plan for permanence 

31 December 2018   

 

 

  

 

CS18009 Redesign and implement the revised model for out of hours 
response for the most vulnerable children and adults 

 31 December 2018   

The shared service has continued to be explored in respect of EDT. The project lead in Bury has completed a paper on what a shared service 
could look like and presented options for Rochdale to consider. These options are being considered and early feedback has been provided to 
Bury regarding the paper presented. 
A further meeting took place in September 2018 with children's and adult services. The initial scoping and design principles were discussed by 
the group. Reports to Senior Leadership Teams will be progressed for both Bury and Rochdale when the model has been agreed; this is 
expected early November 2018. 
The options for a shared service have not been agreed as yet and we are not in a position to sign a shared service agreement 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18008.A Develop and implement shared service with Bury 31 December 2018   

 CS18009.B Workshops and initial scoping of service need design principles 
completed. 

30 June 2018   

 CS18009.C Sign up for shared service proposal secured across both localities 
and 

31 August 2018   

 CS18009.D Stakeholder engagement  event  held 30 September 2018   

 CS18009.E Implementation phase initiated  31 October 2018   
 

 

  

 

CS18010 Develop shared and innovative services to respond to children 
and families complex needs  

 31 March 2019   

Greater Manchester is continuing to develop a GM regional offer and the local offer will be aligned to this. Complex safeguarding lead has been 
appointed for GM and a work plan will be developed. Monies have been obtained from the DFE in respect of Complex Safe guarding and these 

 

P
age 95



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

are shaping local services. Currently progressing plans to have a co-located service that will manage local complex safeguarding issues on a 
multi-agency basis. 
Consultation is underway in respect of innovation and these are on track to be presented and agreed at the programme board. The co-design 
has started in respect of the local offer around complex safeguarding. There is now a GM lead appointed. Stakeholder events have been 
arranged. Monies have been obtained from GMCA in order to lead on a strengthened early help/prevention approach to children and young 
people. The plans submitted by Rochdale outlining how this would be used were accepted. YOS links are already made with EHASH . There is to 
be an offer from YOS to the local plans to enhance the approach to complex safeguarding 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18010.A Implement programme of innovation aligned with Greater Manchester 
transformation including adolescent offer, complex Safeguarding and 
pre-birth assessment service 

31 March 2019   

 CS18010.B GM innovation proposals presented and agreed at Programme Board 30 September 2018   

 CS18010.C Co- design and  stakeholder events  held  30 September 2018   

 CS18010.D Local  developments and service design phase initiated under agreed 
project plans  

30 September 2018   

 CS18010.E Revised service specification and operational delivery  model agreed 
across partnership    

30 November 2018   

 CS18010.F Implement revised prevention offer from Youth Offending Service; 
target and respond to those at most risk of offending/re-offending 

31 December 2018   

 

 

  

 

CS18011 Improve workforce stability  31 March 2019   

Report presented to SLT (20th June 2018) which confirms the Rochdale approach to implementing NAAS. Project plan and Project board now in 
place to drive implementation. “Leading Relational Practice programme” commenced in July and builds on previous Strengthening Practice 
Programme in Rochdale. The programme is underpinned by the post qualifying practice standards to equip social workers and managers with the 
knowledge and skills to be ready to undertake NAAS (national assessment and accreditation). There will be two routes for Managers to endorse 
practitioners readiness to progress towards NAAS which are the portfolio progression route or the social workers annual PDR. The PDR 
framework is being revised to incorporate post qualifying professional standards (Knowledge and Skills Statements) Meeting with DfE link, 11th 
July 2018 confirmed we are on track with implementation. Recruitment and Retention working group (combined with NAAS) is in place. Work 
programme in development which incorporates conditions for success, revised job descriptions and job adverts, informed by post qualifying 
social work standards (KSS), revised career pathway which supports continuous professional development, and learning from exit interviews. 
This will inform the refreshed recruitment and retention strategy to become a vibrant “Rochdale Offer”. 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18011.A Implement the NAAS (National Assessment and Accreditation 
System) to support social workers with their continuous professional 
development 

31 March 2019   

 CS18011.B Model for implementation agreed and signed off   and progressing in 
line with DfE expectations.  

31 July 2018   

 CS18011.C Refresh the recruitment and retention strategy to become a vibrant 
“Rochdale Offer” for all social workers 

31 December 2018   

 

P
age 96



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

 CS18011.D Revise training and development programme to support NAAS and 
Rochdale local offer  

31 October 2018   

 

  

 

CS18012 Improve placement sufficiency for cared for children  31 October 2018   

Cohort of children have been identified who need a bespoke family finding approach. Process and procedure has been agreed in how to 
progress this. Transformation monies have been obtained and this is being looked at in terms of marketing for identifying families who want to do 
specifically long term fostering. Strategic permanence group are cited on the progress of this and will be the group that will monitor the impact. 
Sufficiency strategy is being reviewed and is now in final draft. Assessment and gap analysis is being undertaken in respect of foster carers to 
identify support needs. The Bridge has an action plan in place in terms of the core offer to SGO and fostering. Consultation continues via the 
forums. The working group as identified by the strategic permanence group will lead on seeking the views of stakeholders. A foster carer 
representative will be part of the working group that is going to look at a principle led approach and offer to children and carers. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18012.A Develop child centered bespoke family finding approaches informed 
by best practice, children and carers 

31 October 2018   

 CS18012.B Review sufficiency strategy from the perspective of children waiting 
to determine gaps and inform bespoke family finding 

31 October 2018   

 CS18012.C Consult with foster carers / adopters / children and staff, so the plan 
is vibrant and realistic and services are commissioned with meet 
identified needs  

31 October 2018   

 

 

  

 

CS18013 Implement revised statutory changes in Working Together 
2018 to all safeguarding activity 

 07 April 2019   

A meeting was held with key partner agencies to consider the proposed changes within Working Together 2018. Final document has now been 
published. The meeting agreed those areas where we felt change was required and appropriate for us as a partnership and where we felt things 
were working well and we needed to ensure continued. Further meetings have taken place which have agreed transitional arrangements. Further 
meetings have taken place which have agreed transitional arrangements. The GM Standards Board is in place and is meeting in shadow form to 
agree Terms of Reference. Key representatives across the region have been agreed and there are a number of key areas of development being 
considered including scrutiny and oversight of the regional arrangements. There is also opportunity to consider those areas where GM Local 
Authorities can come together to ensure effective and coordinated work is undertaken where appropriate. The changes in respect of CDOP will 
require significant change and it is anticipated this will be managed on a GM basis. There will also be co-ordination in respect of the existing 
cross region safeguarding work. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 CS18013.A Engage with partners to review the proposed changes in Working 
Together 2018 

31 March 2019   

 CS18013.B Undertake an options appraisal regarding different models of 
safeguarding in accordance with the new arrangements 

31 March 2019   

 CS18013.C Engage with regional partners and early adopter sites to implement 
learning. 

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

P
age 97



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

   

    

    

   

 

P
age 98



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

   
 

 

PH18001 Provide a resilient and robust health protection system  31 March 2019   

Objectives: Risks to population health and reputational risk to the council are reduced.  

The outbreak plan has been developed across all agencies and will be signed off in Q3 A local screening uptake group has been meeting to 
improve uptake of breast, cervical and bowel screening and support has been provided to primary care colleagues The annual flu programme 
planning has taken place with monthly meetings and will commence in Q3 for 2018/19 season including the staff vaccination programme 

25/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18001.A Finalise a new outbreak plan and test against examples 31 July 2018   

 PH18001.B Cancer screening uptake plan in place 30 June 2018   
 

 

  

 

 PH18001.C Annual Flu programme developed and implemented 31 March 2019   
 

 PH18001.D Community infection Control programme agreed and implemented  31 March 2019   

 

 

PH18002 Develop and implement the Integrated Prevention System 
Model  

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: Increased community resilience and individual wellbeing, reduced access to A&E / GP~s  

The Integrated Prevention system ‘Connecting You’ has been launched with all staff recruited. Materials are currently being printed, and 
workshops being held, to provide core team members and wider stakeholders with information and clear access routes. The Community 
Connectors have collated a robust data set which is now informing processes and the evaluation framework for the system as a whole. The new 
community builder posts that have been recruited through transformation funding are starting to have a real impact in neighbourhoods. To help 
facilitate their work in relation to strengthening community assets the Connecting You: Seed Fund has been established. This is a micro-grant 
fund of up to £2K amounts to help groups establish and strengthen community assets. 

12/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18002.A Launch of the model 31 May 2018   

 PH18002.B Agree and implement an evaluation process 31 August 2018   

 PH18002.C Agree a forward plan for 2019/20 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18003 Lead the programme management and delivery of the 
prevention and access theme of the Rochdale Locality Plan 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: delivery of prevention and access theme on track and milestones met  

All transformation projects in the Prevention and Access theme are now implemented and delivering. Outcome measures are being developed to 
assess the impact of the projects. The Prevention and Access Partnership Board is in place and overseeing the delivery of both GM and local 
transformation work. 

12/10/18 

 

 

 

P
age 99



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18003.A Prevention and access partnership board in place for 18/19 30 April 2018   

 PH18003.B 

 

Prevention and access projects implemented and reported quarterly 31 March 2019   

 
 

PH18003.C CBA benefits realised 31 March 2019   

 

 

  

  

 

PH18004 Support and enable the development of a strong and resilient 
Voluntary Sector 

 31 December 2018   

Objectives: increase social value,  social capital, reduce isolation and loneliness and increase access to employment  

Develop a Borough wide Volunteering Strategy and action plan to increase the resilience of the voluntary sector – the development of this 
strategy is being progressed with the new Voluntary Sector Development Manager. A Voluntary Sector Workshop looking at volunteers and 
opportunities across the sector took place mid-September and this will inform the approach. Timescales may be reviewed pending the 
commencement of the new Voluntary Sector Infrastructure Support Organisation due to start in Jan’19. 
 
The revised service specification has been developed. Public consultation has been carried out to inform this, along with researching best 
practice elsewhere and engagement with our Active Citizens and Leading GM cohort. The tender went live mid-September and will be open for 
30 days. We hope to award the new contract in mid-November to the successful applicant. 

12/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18004.A Develop a Borough wide Volunteering Strategy and action plan to 
increase the resilience of the voluntary sector 

31 December 2018   

 PH18004.B Commission a voluntary sector infrastructure service 31 October 2018   
 

 

  

 

PH18005 Lead the development of the Integrated Strategic Intelligence 
Function on behalf of the council, CCG and LCO 

 31 December 2018   

  

The business intelligence leads have continued to meet across agencies and work undertaken has included the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, adult neighbourhood profiles, analysis and briefings on a range of health data sets and work on developing outcomes and indicators 
for health and social care transformation. The ACE needs assessment has been procured and will commence in Q3. 

25/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18005.A Leadership briefing paper 30 June 2018   

 PH18005.B ICB/LCO Paper 30 Sept 2018   
 

 

  

 

 PH18005.C JSNA website launched 31 July 2018   

 

 
 PH18005.D ACE needs assessment completed 31 December 2018   

P
age 100



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

 

PH18006 Lead the local mental health service transformation  31 October 2018   

Objectives: Improved wellbeing and access to essential services for people with mental health issues. 
 
The local suicide prevention group continues to meet and the action plan is being refreshed. 

 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18006.A Establishment of local partnership board 30 April 2018   

 PH18006.B Work programme for the board to implement agreed 30 April 2018   

 PH18006.C Review of current offer to improve MH outcomes. Review and refresh 
if needed approach to suicide prevention. 

31 October 2018   

 

 

  

 

PH18007 Develop and implement a 3 year multi-agency  Tobacco 
control Action Plan aligned to the GM tobacco Strategy and action plan 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: Reduce smoking prevalence to 13% (from 19.4%) and smoking in pregnancy to 6% (from 16.6%) by 2021, reduce sales of illicit tobacco, reduce 
crime relating to illicit sales. 

 

Develop and implement a 3 year multi-agency  Tobacco control Action Plan aligned to the GM tobacco Strategy and action plan – a ‘Making 
Smoking History in Rochdale’ partnership summit was held on the 2nd October, with a wide range of stakeholders attending. Priorities around 
tobacco for the next 2 years were agreed and these will now be consolidated into a Framework for Action. The lead for the adult smoking 
transformation project is now in post and is developing the implementation plan to establish a Pennine Acute Trust wide approach to tobacco 
addiction, including pathways of support for patients within the Trust to support them to ‘stop before the op’. 

12/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18007.A Action Plan is refreshed 30 June 2018   

 PH18007.B Adult smoking transformation projects implemented 31 March 2019   

 PH18007.C Smoking in Pregnancy Plan implemented and evaluated 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18008 Implement a new delivery model for the Public Protection 
Service 

 31 March 2019   

Objectives: Risks to population health and reputational risk to the council are reduced.  

Staff restructure implemented on 1 August 2018 • Service planning team meetings held during September 2018 for engagement and participation 
in the Service Plan refresh • Service Plan refresh completed and circulated 1 October 2018 (attached) • Team development programme 
commenced and will be delivered during September and October Management Team event 21 September 2018 Whole Team event 10 October 
2018 Licensing Team event 24 October 2018 Trading Standards Team event 25 October 2018 Env Health Team event 26 October 2018 • Public 
Protection Service moved from Public Health and Well-being to Neighbourhoods Directorate from 1 October 2018 

12/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18008.A Staff restructure  completed  31 July 2018   

 

P
age 101



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

 PH18008.B Team development programme delivered 31 March 2019   

 PH18008.C Public Protection Service Plan refreshed  30 September 2018   
 

  

 

PH18009 Reduce avoidable deaths related to cancers  31 July 2018   

  

A local group was established and supported to improve uptake of cervical, breast and bowel cancer. An action was agreed and is being 
implemented with Primary Care colleagues and Public Health England including the running of two community events. 

25/10/18 

 

 

 
 

  

 

PH18010 Reduce avoidable deaths related to cardiovascular disease  31 March 2019   

  

The Diabetes Prevention project continues to be implemented and is working well locally - plans currently underway to assimilate Rochdale into a 
GM framework once current contract with Living Well Taking Control ends. Ongoing transition meetings in place with partners inc NHSE. 

25/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18010.A Develop and expand approaches to identify undiagnosed 
cardiovascular disease (CVD) – i.e. find the missing thousands to 
prevent, detect and treat heart disease at an early stage 

31 March 2019   

 PH18010.B National Diabetes Prevention Programme evaluated and forward 
plans agreed 

31 December 2018   

 

 

  

 

 PH18010.C Equity Audit 31 December 2018   

 

 PH18010.D Health Checks programme agreed for 2019/20  31 March 2019   

 

PH18011 Undertake a robust review of Link 4 Life and related leisure 
and culture services arrangements to ensure they are resilient and fit 
for purpose for the next 5-10 years 

 31 March 2019  

Objectives: Sport and physical activity strategy (in line with GM approaches and local needs)....Plan for future of L4L services in place 

 
A working group has continued to develop a new way of working between Link4Life and several relevant Council services. A post has been 
recruited to and will take forward the revision of the agreements in the remainder of the year. 
 

25/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18011.A Review individual services and sites and agree proposed strategic 
direction 

31 December 2018   

 

P
age 102



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

 PH18011.B Partnership Agreement refreshed and in place 31 March 2019   
 

  

 

PH18012 Implement agreed GM Population Health Plan programmes at 
a local level  

 31 March 2019  

Objectives: Complete a local Age Friendly plan in line with GM strategy and plans....Support the Rochdale Borough Work and Health Plan ....Support GM Air 
Quality action plan. 

Locally we have continued to support GM wide work to tackle air quality 25/10/18 
 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18012.A Complete a local Age Friendly plan in line with GM strategy and plans 31 October 2018   

 PH18012.B Support the Rochdale Borough  Work and Health Plan  31 March 2019   

 PH18012.C Support GM Air Quality action plan 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18013 To lead agreed areas of the GM Population Health Plan on 
behalf of GM 

 31 March 2019  

Objectives: To lead the GM Suicide Prevention Partnership and Plan....To lead the development of GM Population Health Plan outcomes assurance framework, 
standards and excellence in GM programme....To lead Arts, Culture and Health Programme. 
 
The Rochdale Work and Health Steering Group met during September, with key partners coming together to provide system leadership and governance for the 
joint programme of work relating to health and employment within Rochdale. A key priority in the group is to strengthen the contribution that Rochdale employers 
make to good quality work & healthy workplaces, including the public sector leading by example. Public Health, together with leads from across the council, have 
come together to progress RBC in becoming a gold standard workplace wellbeing employer. A report was submitted to Leadership in June to seek endorsement 
to run a short Workforce Wellbeing Survey. The survey has now been completed and a Workforce Wellbeing stakeholder event is being planned for January 
2019 to help inform a refreshed Workforce Wellbeing strategy for the organisation. 
 
The GM Suicide Prevention Plan was developed and publicised widely on Suicide Prevention Day in September across Greater Manchester The work on 
population health outcomes dashboard has resulted in a draft dashboard for all areas across GM and also a suite of draft standards for areas such as tobacco 
and sexual health for use locally and across GM 
 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18013.A To lead the GM Suicide Prevention Partnership and Plan 31 March 2019   

 PH18013.B To lead the development of GM Population Health Plan outcomes 
assurance framework, standards and excellence in GM programme 

31 March 2019   

 PH18013.C To lead Arts, Culture and Health Programme 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18014 Develop and implement a behaviour change programme part 
of the wider commitment to changing the conversation between citizen 
and state. 

 31 March 2019  

P
age 103



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

Objectives: reduction in demand for specified cohort of residents (test case) Boroughwide behaviour change programme in place... 

Following on from the July meeting, we have identified the following draft project objectives: 1. Identify a series of preferred behaviour goals for 
Rochdale residents based on the need to reduce dependence on public service delivery and encourage a more pro-active approach to health 
management. 2. Produce a behaviour change toolkit for internal staff and partners to encourage behaviour change approach to setting priorities. 
3. Create a collective purpose and name that partners can identify with and which captures the aspirations of future intervention streams. These 
are considered draft as further scoping and project deliverables may be agreed following the stakeholder workshop on 14th September – This will 
help us to drive forward our work programme e.g. a series of workshops to further empower key staff and partners with a behaviour change 
toolkit Hitch will be providing provide the expertise to support our work including: - Behaviour Change and Social Marketing expertise and 
experience to deliver training, examples and comparison with previous campaigns. - Independent workshop facilitation to support behaviour 
change objectives. - Branding experience to understand how brands are created. - Strong understanding of audience segmentation and profiling. 

26/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18014.A Rochdale Borough population insight work completed. 30 April 2018   

 PH18014.B Behaviour change cohort and issue project agreed 30 June 2018   

 PH18014.C Project implemented and evaluated and plan in place for 2019/20 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18015 Reduce childhood obesity  31 March 2019  

Objectives: Reduce childhood obesity rate by a quarter (25%) by 2024 (measurement: the National Child measurement programme Yr 6)....Reduction in children 
with decayed, missing or filled teeth. 

Childhood obesity 
Sugar Smart Borough – 29 organisations/teams have signed up to the Sugar Smart UK website and together 34 actions to reduce sugar have 
been put in place. The next phase is to encourage those partners (e.g. children’s centres, Link4Life, school nursing and health visiting service, 
early years settings)  to record all the interventions they are doing to raise awareness amongst partners and children about the importance of 
sugar reduction. For example facilities management are piloting reducing the sugar content of school meals sweets by 33% and we are exploring 
the possibility of adding sugar reduction signage to vending machines.  
We have developed an information and activity pack for all children in Reception (and their parents) to be delivered as part of our National Child 
Measurement Programme. We intend to evaluate the effectiveness of the pack.  
 
The daily Mile – 29 schools are undertaking the daily mile. Public Health have undertaken a review of the Daily Mile in the Borough.  We know 
that approximate 6,730 children take part in the Daily Mile at least once a week. We aim to support 10 schools to implement the Daily Mile by 
March 2019.  
The Daily Toddle is now being rolled out to all private and voluntary in September 2018. 
 

26/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18015.A Ensuring Rochdale becomes a sugar smart borough. 31 March 2019   

 PH18015.B Increase opportunities for walking including the implementation of 
the daily mile and daily toddle.  

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

PH18016 Robust commissioning of key prescribed and non-prescribed  31 March 2019  

P
age 104



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  7  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

services 

Objectives: All services securely commissioned – mandation conditions met 

Implementation of new drug and alcohol service completed and contract and performance meetings now underway Pennine Care Health Visiting 
and School Nursing contracts likely to be extended for a year to align with Family Services model. 

12/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18016.A Procurement/Development: Health visiting/ School Nursing, Post 
March 2019 sexual health commissioning arrangements 

31 March 2019   

 PH18016.B Maintenance & Monitoring: Drugs and Alcohol, Oral health 
improvement, Sexual health, NHS Health Checks , National Child 
Measurement Programme, Health Protection 

31 March 2019   

 

 

  

 

PH18017 Address key under-performing PH health outcomes relating to 
sexual health and oral health 

 31 March 2019  

Objectives: Review of sexual health programmes and implement key actions to improve screening uptake.....Improve chlamydia positive diagnosis rate and early 
diagnosis of HIV....Continue to implement the oral health improvement action plan. 

Peer review action log meeting planned – response from Living well OHI with programmes in response to action log • OHI working closely with 
PH spending 1 day a month in PH looking at progress of OHI programmes and links with GM plans • Events in place for early years staff (LEA, 
Private day nursery, H/V’s School nurses) • Relaunch of Golden Grin – improved auditing • Steering group ongoing • Locality fluoride varnish 
programme on target • Links with GM Toothbrushing in schools programme – on target • Promotion of above programmes to parents in baby 
clinics identifying parents with older siblings encouraging positive consent returns • 6 schools identified and contacted re GULP programme 
starting dates from 12th October 2018 • GULP early years pilot underway with online survey, OHI teams, dental practices, Early years setting and 
Health visitors contacted and requested to support and promote survey, evaluated by Food Active. • All schools/early years settings contacted to 
adopt the Sugar Smart Borough, links sent to all schools to sign up – ongoing follow up • Agreed GM dental packs, cost 70p each advising Living 
well to change supplier so that all packs in borough are the same with same clear messages. 

25/10/18 

 

 

 Ref Name Due   

 PH18017.A Review of sexual health programmes and implement key actions to 
improve screening uptake. 

31 March 2019   

 PH18017.B Improve chlamydia positive diagnosis rate and early diagnosis of HIV 30 September 2018   

 PH18017.C Continue to implement the oral health improvement action plan 31 March 2019   
 

 

  

 

PH18018 Complete a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on Adverse 
Childhood Experiences and  

 31 March 2019  

Objectives: Complete a Needs Assessment for the borough, and set out a proposed action plan.....Decreasing the impact of ACE's on school readiness...  
 

The adverse childhood needs assessment is in the process of being procured and has been put on the chest. The closing date for applications was 24.9.18. 
We have finalised the panel to assess the bids and choose the bid with the highest score and fed back to STAR procurement in terms of our evaluations.  STAR 
Procurement are in the process of finalising arrangements with the provider before officially reaching contract award stage. 

P
age 105



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2018-19 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  8  Of  8 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

18 July 2018 
 

  

         

    

 

P
age 106



Agenda Item

Report to  Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting 28th November 2018
Portfolio Adult Social Care
Report Author Tracey Harrison
Public Document

Market Oversight Report 

1. Executive Summary

1.1     The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. 

1.2 The Committee has requested quarterly updates on quality assurance 
information for the services commissioned by the Adult Care service. 
Appendix 1 of this report provides this information for quarter 2 in 
2018/19.

1. Recommendation

2.1     That the committee consider the content of the Market Oversight report.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1      The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. The 
market oversight report presents quality assurance information for quarter 
2 of 2018/19 for the committee to scrutinise.

4. Key Points for Consideration
            

Quality Visits           

4.1      Appendix 1 provides detailed information on quality assurance for adult 
care commissioned services. It is important to note that the approach to 
quality assurance is that we concentrate on homes that have ‘Requires 
Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ ratings in any of the five outcome areas 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



(Safe, Effective, Responsive, Caring and Well Led).   Services that are 
rated as Outstanding or Good will have a lighter touch approach with 
shorter visits to check certain areas and an emphasis on maintaining 
relationships. 

4.2 If any risks are identified in relation to providers rated as outstanding or 
good e.g. safeguarding concerns then the quality assurance officers will 
visit and carry out additional quality assurance checks as required. 

4.3     Out of borough homes are reviewed using a light touch approach which 
will involve a desk top review using information gathered from the 
Provider, Care Management, Host Authority where the service is 
registered, Care Quality Commission (CQC), Staff, Residents and 
Relatives.

4.4 It should also be noted that there haven’t been any visits to supported 
living providers this quarter as they are all currently inspected as 
outstanding or good.  However should there be any safeguarding 
concerns quality visits would be undertaken.

4.5    The key points from the Q2 report are summarised below:

In borough residential provision:

Visits Number of providers Q2 CQC grading
10 1 (was RI) Good 
89 19 Requires Improvement
6 1 Inadequate
44 various Good or Outstanding

149 visits in total

Out of borough provision:

Desk top reviews Number of providers
29 28

CQC inspections Q2 2018/19

4.6 There were 7 number of CQC inspections carried out in Rochdale 
Borough residential provision and 4 domiciliary care during Q2.  

4.7 As a result we can now report that we no longer have any inadequate 
provision in the borough. 

The overall position at the end of quarter 2 is that of the 54 providers:

1 (2%) was rated as Outstanding, 
40 (74%) were rated as good –an increase of 25 providers;
11 (20%) were rated as requiring improvement - an increase of 6; and

Page 108



0 (0%) were rated as Inadequate – a decrease of 2; 
A further 2 providers are yet to be inspected

4.8 Out of borough provision rating where Rochdale has placed a client are as 
follows:

6 (5%) rated as outstanding
72 (68%) rated as good
18 (17%) rated as requires improvement
3 (3%) rated as inadequate; and
7 (7%) yet to be inspected.

Market oversight feedback

4.9 The adult care commissioning team record issues gathered in relation to 
commissioned services that are raised with them by services users and 
other stakeholders.

Complaints 

4.10 In quarter 2 2018/19 there were 29 complaints received which is a 
reduction of 15 on quarter 1.  Of these 26 were resolved and 3 are 
outstanding.

4.11 The reasons for the complaints were varied and can be found on page 5 
of the report at appendix 1.

4.12 The commissioning team investigates the complaints received about 
providers and works with providers to improve the quality of care and 
address instances of poor practice.

4.13 Information is also gathered from providers about the complaints that they 
receive from service users and families. In quarter two the information 
gathered demonstrates that providers received 46 complaints and that 39 
were resolved whilst 7 are still being investigated. 

User satisfaction

4.14 As part of the quality assurance process we carry out family, service user 
and staff questionnaires for those services being reviewed. The take up 
rate for these questionnaires has improved for quarter 2 and seen 129 
completed.

4.15 The intelligence gained from gathering satisfaction data helps determine 
the quality assurance officers focus for the quality assurance visits.  

4.16 Samples of the responses from the questions in the Satisfaction 
questionnaires are illustrated on page 10 of Appendix 1, along with some 
of the comments received.  Overall the feedback received is positive but 
we continue to follow up any negative or unsatisfactory feedback.

Page 109



In conclusion

We are seeing an improving picture in the quality of Rochdale’s provider 
market.  It should also be noted that as of November 2018 Rochdale has the 
second highest quality rating in Greater Manchester which is testament to the 
work of the quality team and providers.

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no financial implications relating to this report.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1   The report identifies the outcomes of the CQC inspections of regulated 
adult care services in Rochdale borough which have been inspected since 
between July 2018 and September 2018. Any risks associated with this 
are managed by the Adult Care commissioning team who work with the 
provider to improve the quality of the services.

 
For Further Information Contact: Tracey Harrison

tracey.harrison@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 927989

Page 110

mailto:tracey.harrison@rochdale.gov.uk


Market Oversight Report 
for Quarter 2 2018-19

Page 111



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 1

The information provided below shows commissioning activity for Quarter 2 2018/19
Contents include:

 Quality Assurance Reviews 

 CQC Ratings

 Market Oversight feedback

 Satisfaction results

Service Providers reviewed during Quarter 2 2018/19 for all client groups:

We are concentrating on the homes that have Requires Improvement or Inadequate ratings in any of the five outcome areas (Safe, Effective, 
Responsive, Caring and Well Led).   Services that are rated as Good or Outstanding will have a lighter approach, shorter visits to check 
certain areas, emphasis on maintaining relationships. 

OOB homes are going to be given a light touch approach and information gathering from Care Management, Local Authority, CQC, Residents 
and Relatives.

P
age 112



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 2

Reviews broken down by In Borough (Homes that Requires Improvement or Inadequate in one or more areas)

Provider reviewed
Requires Improvement 

Visits
Inadequate

Visits 
Archmoor Care Home 5
Ashbourne Dual Reg Home (Norden) 3
Beech House Rest Home 0
Beechwood Lodge Residential & 
Dementia Care Home 6

Braeside Dual Home 4
Briarmede Rest Home 8
Heywood Court Home 3
Highfield House Res Home (NYI) 2
Highfield Manor Care Home (NYI) 5
Hurstead House Dual Home 6
Lakeside Residential Home 5
Little Heaton Care Home 8
Marland Court 10
Meadowview (CQC Good) (Major 
concerns) 10
Middleton Hall  5
Newhey House 3
Oakland Dual Reg Home (Bury Road, 
Rochdale) 7
Oaklands (Milnrow) 0
Passmonds Dual Reg Home 9
Riverside Nursing Home 6

44 further visits were completed over Q2 to CQC Rated good homes.  Totalling 149 visits in Quarter 2. 

P
age 113



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 3

Out of Borough Reviews broken down by Lead Provider

Lead Provider reviewed Out of borough
Older People 17
Learning Disability 6
Mental Health 2
Physical Disability 4
Prevention 0

CQC Inspections split by individual ratings (July 2018 – September-2018) for all client groups:

Overall  Ratings In Borough Percentage Out of Borough Percentage 
Outstanding 1 2% 6 5%

Good 40 74% 72 68%

Requires improvement 11 20% 18 17%

Inadequate 0 0% 3 3%

Not yet Inspected 2 4% 7 7%

1

40

11
06

72

18

3

Outstanding Good Requires improvement Inadequate
0

20

40

60

80

In borough Out of borough

Overall CQC ratings July 18 - September 18 

P
age 114



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 4

Adult Care Market Oversight feedback

The Adult Care Commissioning Team record issues in relation to commissioned services that are raised with them by service users and other 
stakeholders. A summary of the information gathered from July 18 to September 2018 is included in the table below. In quarter 2 of 2018/19 
29 concerns/complaints were raised with the commissioning team. Of these 26 were resolved, 3 are outstanding.  The outstanding complaints 
require further investigation.

 COMMISSIONING TEAM INFORMATION (June  18- September 18) Quarter 1 
18/19

Quarter 2 
18/19

Quarter 3 
18/19

Quarter 4
18/19

Number of complaints received 44 29
Complaints resolved 36 26
Outstanding complaints 8 3
Complaints transferred to other departments external to the    
Commissioning team 0 3

Compliments to Adult Care Commissioning about providers 2 0

44

36

8

29
26

3

Number of complaints 
received

Complaints resolved Outstanding complaints
0

10

20

30

40

50

Quarter 1 18/19
Quarter 2 18/19
Quarter 3 18/19
Quarter 4 18/19

Commissioning Complaints log

P
age 115



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 5

There has been a mixture of complaints including:
 Financially and physically reported
 Various concerns from DN's at huddle around staffing / soap dispensers / dressings / soiled residents.
 Issues with staff falling out with each other and causing problems as a consequence.
 Carer not happy about fees 
 Daily notes completed in advance 
 Staffing issues 
 Concerns over placement for Rochdale resident 
 General Care, record keeping, cleanliness
 Hand soap not provided in EMI unit
 Home manager has requested monies from RBC Client Financial Services but they queried why no monies been requested for over 

two years from the home.
 Moving and handling concerns; Lack of moving and handling equipment, poor care and lack of dignity.
 Concerns around staff awareness of reporting procedure for sudden and unexpected deaths. 
 PA finance concerns
 Reports that provider apparently recording behavioural issues on scraps of paper
 Temperature of rooms 
 Pressure mat and underneath this was old wet urine which smelt
 Faeces on his bed sheet and his bed sheets were not fitted properly and just in a bundle. 
 Residents looking dishevelled 
 Unable to accept cash budget due to person being on leave.
 No hot water
 Query regards both lead providers refusing the package.
 Medication.
 Care worker fell asleep on a number of occasions whilst on duty
 Missing clothes 
 Resident attended went out with her daughter on her birthday and didn’t have her hearing aids in and was unable to skype her 

family in Australia. Her daughter made a complaint that staff hadn’t checked if she had her hearing aids in before she went out. 

P
age 116



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 6

The number of complaints received in each month of Quarter 2, 2018/19 is illustrated below along with the number of complaints per service 
area:

0 0 0

11

21

12
15

19

10

0 0 0

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19
0

5

10

15

20

25

Complaints received  Quarter 1 - 4 2018/19

1 0

43

0
4

3

37

0

Learning Disability Mental Health Older People Physical Disability
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Quarter 1 2018/19
Quarter 2 2018/19
Quarter 3 2018/19
Quarter 4 2018/19

Total number of complaints by service area

P
age 117



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 7

Commissioned Provider Concerns 
Adult Care Commissioning Team collects information from providers about the concerns that they receive and manage internally. This has been 
done on an annual basis as part of the quality monitoring process. 47 Providers responded. 
The table below shows a summary of the information available for Quarter 2 2018/19:  

Recurring Themes  
Standard of Care/Poor Practice 11 23.91%
Infection Control/Medication Issue  0.00%
Staffing Issues 5 10.87%
Neglect 1 2.17%
Invoice/Payment Query 1 2.17%
Moving & Handling  2 4.35%
Timekeeping/Missed Visits 2 4.35%
Other 24 52.17%
Total 46 100.00%

P
age 118



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 8

1
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

Standard of Care/Poor Practice
Infection Control/Medication Issue
Staffing Issues
Neglect
Invoice/Payment Query
Moving & Handling
Timekeeping/Missed Visits

Recurring Themes Quarter 2

 PROVIDER INFORMATION (Apr 18- June 18) Quarter 1 18-19 Quarter 2 18-19 Quarter 3 18-19 Quarter 4 18-19

Number of complaints received 43 46

Number of complaints resolved 39 39

Number of outstanding complaints
4 7

As part of complaints monitoring, we ask providers to categorise the complaints they receive. Of the providers that have attempted to do this, 
the table below illustrates the kind of concerns being raised.

P
age 119



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 9

‘Other’, where specified, includes: 
1. Continuity of carers 
2. Theft - Still under investigation
3. Breakdown in communication 
4. Complaint re Decor and activities
5. TV not working in bedroom
6. Garden maintenance
7. Lost item
8. SU exposed himself to neighbour
9. Overheard conversation
10. Complaint to RMBC re shared lives consultation
11. Gossip related 
12. Standard of food 
13. Family wanting contact without support

 ‘Lessons learnt’ from complaints by providers include:

1. Planning carers into runs so continuity of carers improves. 
2. Clarity for staff of medication protocol.
3. Communicate on regular basis 
4. Medication training increased 
5. Importance of ensuring effective communication and recording 
6. Complaints are being responded to in line with policy. Some were unfounded. Garden in one service to be improved. Improved risk 

assessment in place for SU that exposed himself to neighbour.
7. Staff meeting held and discussed the importance of professional conversation. There also became a transparent picture of who we 

were having gossip issues with and this has helped the home deal with the situation. One situation has empowered the staff to feel 
valued and know that they have a right to complain about relatives.

8. I have complained to the district nurses and had a meeting with one of the sisters due to the continuity of care my residents are 
receiving. The meeting held was to highlight issues and how we can go forward. 

9. I have referred through duty regards a family member and the impact they are having on the home. I have spoken to our link 
worker and this has only just been allocated to the social worker so hoping for a visit soon

10. We have changed food suppliers and this has made a huge difference to choices available.
11. All complaints have been shared with staff so that we can reflect on our practices.
12. We have now implemented a recruitment plan to ensure we have a relief bank of diverse staff. 

P
age 120



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 10

13. Reviewed the hours utilised for laundry duty and communication regarding standards of care 
14. We now have charts in place for the hearing aids to be kept in a lockable space during the night. They are signed in when taken off 

and signed out when put back in in the morning

Satisfaction Questionnaires Q2 2018/19 (July 18 – September 18)

Questionnaires Count
Family 19
Service User 45

Staff 65

 The intelligence gained from gathering satisfaction data helps determine the Quality Assurance Officers focus for the quality assurance 
visits. 

 Samples of the responses from the questions in the Satisfaction questionnaires are illustrated in the tables below. 
 Overall the feedback received is positive but we continue to follow up any negative or unsatisfactory feedback.

Service User Satisfaction % Yes % No
Other 

Comments 
Do you feel the service is well-managed and do 
you know the managers name?  
Do staff help you to feel safe?
Do you get support when you most need it?
Do staff help you clean?

100%

98%

96%

0%

2%

4%
What do you get to eat and drink? i.e. do you 
get all the food and drink you like? 100% 0%
Do you feel you are treated with courtesy and 
respect by all staff?
  Do you feel you are treated with courtesy and 
respect by all staff?

91%

98%

9%

2%
Do you feel you are listened to and involved in 
the planning of your support?

91% 9%

P
age 121



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 11

How do you spend your time, i.e. activities, 
watching TV, listening to music?
Do staff/management respond to your 
concerns you raise?
Do you know how to make a complaint?

93%

98%

87%

7%

2%

13%

One comment from a service user at Beech House – “I love living here they make me feel very safe and are kind to me”
One comment from a service user at Hulton Care around Q7 Do you feel you are listened to and involved in the planning of your support? Service user 
answered NO - “I don’t know why I feel that, I just do / happy with all care I am receiving”. 

Families Satisfaction Yes No
Don’t 
Know

Safeguarding: Do you know how to report anything that you 
have concerns about? 100% 0% 0%

Safeguarding: How would you know where to report an issue 
you are unhappy with? 90% 10% 0%

Safeguarding; Have you seen or heard anything that concerns 
you about your family member’s care/support? 0% 100% 0%

Service User Needs: Are the service users supported to access 
community services during the day?
Service User Needs: Does the service promote independence 
and choice for its service users?
Service User Needs: Does the service offer an appropriate range 
of activities which are of interest to the service users and 
encourage participation?
Service User Needs; Do the activities offered support and 
encourage the development of practical, social and 
communication skills?
Service User Involvement: Do you feel the service engages with 
and encourages service user participation in decisions relating to 
how services are delivered?
Service User Involvement: Do you feel the service provider 
consults adequately with the service user and/or their 
representatives?

5%

67%

67%

100%

100%

79%

31%

33%

0%

0%

21%

64%

33%

0%

P
age 122



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 12

Good Average Poor
Quality of Service: In your view, please rate the quality of the 
overall service provided: 67% 33% 0%

Comments from Family members – “Care home have been superb! They provide excellent care to my Mother and are very good at caring for her needs. They are 
good at communicating with the family and providing necessary support.”
“Feel staff should be taught to be vigilant at all times, e.g. if something not cleaned they should see this”

Staff questions have been changed to be more relevant to the role; they are not a YES/NO answer.  All questionnaires were answered; any query’s taken up at 
the time of collection.   One concerns to report in Quarter Two, table below to show questions asked 

Staff Satisfaction

What training and refreshers have you had in the areas listed on the last page?
 What opportunities are you given to a) discuss your training needs and b) attend training days or courses?
Would you like to make any further comments about training offered by the provider?
How often do you receive supervision and appraisals/meet with your supervisor? Do you receive a written 
record of these meetings?
What is a care plan?
Where is the care plan kept and who has access to them?
How do you know what the service user needs assistance with?
What involvement do you have in;  a) developing care plans,   b )implementing care plans  c) monitoring 
and reviewing care plans.
What do you do if anything arises that is not in a care plan or that requires earlier review than usual?   
What do you understand to be a risk assessment?
Where do you write about what you have done during your shift? How often do you write this?
Do you feel staffing levels are adequate?
  Are there any issues you would like to discuss/ If so, please indicate here If you wish you can contact a 
member of the team on 01706 922414

Concern - Don't always feel appreciated by the company as there is no career progression – Raised this with the company for them to discuss with the carer. 

P
age 123



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 13

Services Inspected by CQC during Quarter 2 (July to September 2018) 

Service Name Overall CQC Rating Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led

Carders Court  - HC 
One Good Good Good Good Good Good

Fieldhouse Dual Reg 
Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

Heathcote (Middleton) Good Good Good Good Good Good

Riverside Nursing 
Home

Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 

Improvement
Requires 

Improvement Requires Improvement Requires Improvement 

Higher Tunshill Farm Good Good Good Good Good Good

Ashbrook Neuro Good Good Good Good Good Good

Hurstead House Dual 
Home

Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 

Improvement Good Good Requires Improvement

Direct Health Care Good Good Good Good Good Good

Newbarn Ltd Good Good Good Good Good Good

Newmark (Previously 
Roshni Respite) Good Good Good Good Good Good

Stepping Stone services Good Good Good Good Outstanding Good

OOB Reviews – 
Service name Overall CQC Rating Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led

Abbey Hey Care Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

P
age 124



Market Oversight

www.rochdale.gov.uk 14

Brockhole Brow Good Good Good Good Good Good

Four Seasons Care 
Home (Bolton) Good Requires improvement Good Good Good Good

Lightbowne Hall Requires 
Improvement Requires Improvement Requires 

Improvement
Requires 

Improvement Requires Improvement Requires Improvement

Sunnyside Care Home Good Good Good Good Good Good

P
age 125



JOINT SCRUTINY PANEL FOR PENNINE CARE (MENTAL HEALTH) 
TRUST

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 4th October 2018

PRESENT: Councillors McLaren (in the Chair), Heffernan (Oldham MBC), 
Gordon, Wright (Stockport MBC), Peet (Tameside MBC), Dale, Howard, 
Susan Smith (Rochdale Borough Council) and Grimshaw (Bury MBC).
 
OFFICERS:  P. Thompson (Governance and Committee Services – Rochdale 
Borough Council)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Ms. C. Molloy (Chief Executive – Pennine Care 
NHS Foundation Trust), Mr. C. Reynolds (Chief Information Officer - Pennine 
Care NHS Foundation Trust) and Mr D. Wallace (Communications and 
Engagement Adviser - Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE:  

APOLOGIES
8 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Teresa Smith 
(Tameside MBC), Toor (Oldham MBC) and Walker (Bury MBC).

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
9 There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
10 The Committee considered the minutes of the last meeting held 12th 
July 2018.

Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Pennine care NHS Foundation Trust, held 12th July 2018, be 
approved as a correct record. 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
11 There were no members of the public in attendance.

INFORMATICS PRESENTATION
12 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee were addressed by Mr. C. 
Reynolds (Chief Information Officer – Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust) 
regarding the Trust’s Health Informatics Strategy 2018 – 2021.

It was explained that this Strategy would help to set out how the Trust’s health 
informatics development would enable the delivery of Pennine Care’s 
overarching five year Strategic plan and support the Trust’s locality partners.

The health Informatics Strategy was proposed to be a ‘living document’ that 
would be refreshed at least annually. The strategy had been drafted by the 

Page 126

Agenda Item 10



Chief Information Officer with a clinical input from the Trust’s Chief Clinical 
Information Officer.

The strategy took account of a wide range of clinical feedback gained via 
continuous engagement with staff, patients, carers, commissioners, GP’s, 
council staff and digital leaders throughout the economy. It also took account 
of feedback as a result of:

a. A PCFT business planning day in November 2017
b. The Trust’s Health Informatics Management Tram Strategy Workshop 

in January 2018  
c. The North East Sector Information Management and Technology 

transformation Steering Group in January 2018
d. Online surveys with digital leaders across Greater Manchester 

(January and February 2018)
e. A review of key strategy documents from national and local bodies

Health informatics was described as information that is collected, managed, 
used and shared every day. Good patient care depended upon fast and 
accurate flow of information. Therefore health informatics was about getting 
information to the right person at the right time.

The Trust committed to updating the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at regular intervals on any variations or alterations to their Informatics 
Strategy.

It was agreed that paper copies of the Strategy were to be forwarded to 
Members of the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee and it was suggested 
that this be discussed further at the Committee’ informal meeting with 
representative of the Trust on 4th December 2018.  

RESOLVED
1. The presentation on the Informatics Strategy be noted and welcomed. 
2. The Strategy be discussed further at the Committee’ informal meeting 

with representative of the Trust on 4th December 2018.

MIXED SEX ACCOMMODATION
13 The Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust’s Communications and 
Engagement Adviser, Mr. D. Wallace updated the Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on progress being made in relation to mixed sex accommodation 
at hospitals across the Trust’s footprint, noting the provision of services for 
people living with mental illness that can be treated and who can be cared for 
in hospital when they were too ill to be at home or in residential care. 
Sometimes patients’ medication, treatment and care needs changed, and they 
needed to be assessed in a hospital. Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust ran 
this type of hospital ward for patients from a number of areas including 
Rochdale, Oldham, Stockport, Bury, Tameside and Glossop.

In light of the 2016 CQC inspection and a subsequent follow-up inspection in 
2017 both of which reported that the Trust needed to demonstrate 
improvements, the Trust had embarked on a three stage engagement strategy 

Page 127



that it was hoped would see significant long-term improvements. The 
engagement strategy would consult with key stakeholders: patients and 
carers/relatives, staff and the public. The questions would include information 
on privacy and dignity. 

It was reported that all of the 18 wards that the engagement survey would 
cover had been completed. The results were to be passed to an independent 
analyst who would prepare a factual report based on the data collated. The 
analyst had indicated that he would be prepared to attend a future meeting of 
the Joint Scrutiny Committee to discuss the work in terms of his methodology 
and reasons for his report’s recommendations. The Joint Scrutiny Committee, 
after consideration of the analyst’s report, would be in a position to make 
appropriate recommendations to the PCFT’s Board thereon.  

It was suggested that further consideration of this matter would be given at the 
Committee’s informal meeting with representatives of Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust on 4th December 2018.

Resolved 
That further consideration of issues relating to mixed sex accommodation be 
given at the Committee’s informal meeting with representatives of Pennine 
Care NHS Foundation Trust on 4th December 2018, with a view to a full 
report, detailing the findings of the independent analyst at the Committee’s 
next meeting on 24th January 2019.

CQC INSPECTIONS
14 The Chief Executive of Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, Ms. C. 
Molloy, advised the Committee that the Trust was to be the subject of a ‘well 
led’ CQC inspection, of selected services between 23rd and 25th October 
2018. The CQC were to undertake smaller scale inspections of some of the 
Trust’s services in the time leading up to 23rd October (in fact these had 
commenced in late August 2018)  and it was noted that thus far there had 
been positive verbal feedback in relation to these inspections.   

Members asked if details of the 2016 CQC inspection of the Trust could be 
forwarded to members of the Committee.

Resolved:
1. The report be noted
2. The Trust’s Chief Executive be requested to forward the ‘executive 

summary’ of the CQC’s Inspection into Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust, carried out in 2016, to members of the Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

3. That the Chief Executive of Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust be 
requested to provide an update on any outcomes of the CQC’s ‘well 
led’ inspection (23rd – 25th October 2018) at the informal meeting of the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4th December 2018.

STAFFING AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

Page 128



15 It was agreed that this item be deferred to the next meeting of the 
Committee.

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE TRUST
16 The Chief Executive of Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust outlined 
the current financial situation appertaining to the Trust. 2017/18 was the first 
year that Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust had recorded a budgetary 
deficit, a largely as a result of reduced funding from the government. It was 
projected that the deficit would continue for at least the next two financial 
years.  

Resolved:
That a full report on the financial position of Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust be presented to the Committee’s next meeting on 24th January 2019.

COMMUNITY SERVICES CONTRACT
17 The Trust’s Chief Executive advised the Committee that a number of 
contracts relating to the provision of community health services were due to 
expire on, or around, 31st March 2019. There was a degree of urgency around 
this item as the Trust’s Board were due to consider a report on this matter at 
their next meeting on 31st October 2018. In this regard it was suggested that 
the Committee’s membership hold a special informal meeting at the Trust’s 
offices in Ashton-under-Lyne to discuss this matter in more detail prior to its 
consideration by the Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust’s Board meeting on 
31st October 2018.

Resolved:
That a special informal meeting of the Committee’s membership be held at the 
Trust’s offices in Ashton-under-Lyne to discuss the issue of community 
services contracts in more detail prior to the consideration of this matter by the 
Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust’s Board on 31st October 2018.

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
18 Resolved:
It was agreed that:

1. The next formal meetings of the Joint Scrutiny Panel for Pennine Care 
(Mental Health) Trust be held on Thursday, 24th January 2019 and on 
Thursday, 21st March 2019, both meetings to be held in the Council 
Offices, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, commencing 
at 10.00am.

2. The next informal meetings of the Committee’s membership be held 
with representatives of Pennine Care Foundation Trust’s senior 
management, at the Trust’s head office (225 Old Street, Ashton-under-
Lyne) on Tuesday, 4th December 2018 and Tuesday, 26th February 
2019 both commencing at 2.00pm.

Page 129



                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Meeting of:

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust

Date:  26th June 2018

Present:
Councillor Roy Walker (Bury Council)
Councillor Stella Smith (Bury Council)
Councillor Colin McLaren (Oldham Council)
Councillor Derek Heffernan (Oldham MBC)
Councillor Ann Stott (Rochdale MBC), 
Councillor Linda Robinson (Rochdale MBC), 
Councillor Norman Briggs (Oldham MBC)
Councillor Raymond Dutton (Rochdale MBC)

Jack Sharp: Director of Strategy Salford Royal and Pennine Acute
Jo Purcell: Deputy Director North East Sector, Salford Royal and   
Pennine Acute 
Nicky Tamanis: Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Salford Royal and 
Pennine Acute
Dean Hambleton-Ayling: Associate Director of Workforce Salford Royal 
and Pennine Acute NHS Trust
Ms Julie Gallagher: Principal Democratic Services Officer 

Apologies: There were no apologies reported. 

PAT. 18/19-01  APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 

It was agreed:

1. That Councillor Colin McLaren (Oldham MBC) be appointed Chair of 
the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the Municipal 
year 2018/19. 

2. That Councillor Stella Smith (Bury MBC) be appointed vice Chair of 
the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the Municipal 
year 2018/19.

PAT.18/19-02 APOLOGIES

Apologies were detailed above. 

PAT.18/19-03 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

PAT.18/19-04 PUBLIC QUESTIONS

Page 130

Agenda Item 11



2

There were no public questions.

PAT.18/19-05 MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING

It was agreed:

That the minutes of the meetings held on 13th March 2018 be approved 
as a correct record.

PAT 18/19-06 POLITICAL BALANCE

It was agreed:

That the necessity, that the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for Pennine Acute NHS Trust be politically balanced, be 
waived for the municipal year 2018.2019.

PAT 18/19-07 STAFFING UPDATE

Dean Hambleton-Ayling: Associate Director of Workforce Salford Royal 
and Pennine Acute NHS Trust attended the meeting to provide 
members with a workforce update.  The vacancy rates for 
medical/dental staff and nursing and midwifery staff remain high at 
12.78% and 10.68% respectively.  Spend on bank, agency and locums 
for April was high and will continue to be a primary focus for the Trust.  
Turnover rates at the Trust have remained static at just over 10% and 
the monthly sickness absence levels have reduced to 4.5%.

The Associate Director of Workforce reported that last year’s Trust 
wide agency spend was £44 million and planned to reduce to £34.9m 
in 2018/19 with a planned year end cash sum of £3.0m compared to 
£11.4m in 2017/18.  

The Associate Director of Workforce reported that there is a robust 
recruitment and retention strategy in place.  Visa and changes to 
immigration criteria has affected the ability to recruit to medical 
positions within the Trust.  50 further doctors will join the Trust in the 
next 3 to 6 months as well as 400 nurses.  The Director of Strategy 
reported that there is a national shortage of medical doctors and 
nursing staff.

  
With regards to the referendum, the Associate Director of Workforce 
reported that the Trust had not seen as of yet seen an impact with 
regards to staffing.  The Trust has commenced recruitment exercises 
in other areas, including the Middle East, North America and Asia in 
response to the national shortage.  

Page 131



3

In response to a Member’s question, the Associate Director of 
Workforce reported that there were 764 vacancies across the Pennine 
Acute Trust, 342 nursing vacancies and 109 doctor vacancies.

The Associate Director of Workforce reported that the recently 
announced NHS 3 year pay deal, as well as benefits of holiday pay, 
pension contributions, professional development and training would 
hopefully entice staff away from agency and locum work and into the 
Trust.

The Director of Strategy reported that the Trust has entered into an 
agreement with neighbouring Trusts to only use their staff as bank 
staff (bank staff attract a lower premium) than agency staff.

Responding to a question from the Chair, the Associate Director of 
Workforce reported that Edge Hill provides additional training to 
support Doctors from overseas to develop professionally whilst 
working in the Trust. Edge Hill have reported that over 100 doctors 
have been unable to take up work in the UK due to visa problems.

It was agreed:

Dean Hambleton-Ayling, Associate Director of Workforce Salford Royal 
and Pennine Acute NHS Trust be thanked for his attendance and a 
further staffing update be provided at the March meeting of the JHOSC 
for Pennine Acute NHS Trust.

PAT 18/19-08 FINANCE UPDATE

Nicky Tamanis, Deputy Director of Finance attended the meeting to 
provide Members with an overview of the financial position and 
financial plan for Pennine Acute NHS Trust, NHSI oversight, the 
process to reach a more balanced position as well as details of the 
capital programme.

The Trust currently receives income of 661.9million pounds, 90% of 
income relates to patient care, activities a 5% increase from 2016/17.
The Trust’s expenditure includes pay costs of 440.2 million pounds, 
64% of the total costs, a 7.5% increase from 2016/17, Non Pay 242.9 
million pounds, 23% relates to drugs and 12% CNST.

The Trust currently has a deficit £68.9million pounds compared to 
£30.4m in 2017.18.  Agency Spend has reduced to £34.9m in 2018/19 
with a Yearend cash sum of £3.0m compared to £11.4m in 2017/18.  
The Trust plans to spend £32.5 million on Capital Investment projects 
compared to £19.7m the previous year.  The Trust has maintained a 
Risk Rating of 4. 

The Deputy Director of Finance reported that with regards to the A&E 
4 Hour Target; Trusts will be expected to meet 90% by September 

Page 132



4

2018, and return to 95% by March 2019, the expectation is that the 
waiting list should not be any higher in March 2019 than in March 
2018, alongside the expectation to halve the number of patients 
waiting 52 weeks in the same period.

The Deputy Director of Finance provided further information with 
regards to the Trust’s financial plan for 2018/19.  The plan includes the 
following information:

 The Sustainability and Transformation Fund is to become the 
Provider Sustainability Fund (PSF), with total funding of £2.45bn 
(up from £1.8bn currently). Access to 30% of the fund remains 
linked to A&E performance.  A new £400m commissioner 
sustainability fund (CSF) will also be introduced to enable CCGs 
to return to in-year financial balance.

 The national eight shadow Accountable Care System sites and 
two devolved health and care systems are now to be known as 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS). ICSs are expected to prepare a 
single system operating plan and to work within a system 
control total. They are expected to move to a more 
‘autonomous’ regulatory relationship with NHS England and NHS 
Improvement over time.

 There will be no additional winter funding in 2018/19. Systems 
are required to produce a winter demand and capacity plan with 
actions and proposed outcomes.

 The two-year National Tariff is unchanged, with local systems 
encouraged to consider local payment reform in certain areas.

Responding to a Member’s question, the Deputy Director of Finance 
reported that to ensure the sustainable delivery of services in the 
future there would be savings proposed but also some additional 
capital investment.

The Trust has worked with NHS Improvement to develop a sustainable 
financial recovery plan to address the deficit.  The Director of Strategy 
reported that the development of the N-orthern Care Alliance Service 
Strategy will address some of the financial issues but may result in 
significant changes in how services are delivered.

Responding to a Member’s question the Deputy Director of Finance 
acknowledged that the IT infrastructure will need additional 
investment; staff at Pennine Acute are working with colleagues at the 
Salford Royal, to share best practice in addition to securing further 
investment for IT infrastructure.

With regards to the services provided; the Director of Strategy 
reported that the development of the North East Sector commissioner- 
led strategy should help address some of the financial issues but is 
likely to require significant changes in how services are delivered in 
order to ensure clinical and financial sustainability.  With regards to the 
services provided, the Director of Strategy said that there may be 

Page 133



5

greater centralisation of some services going forward; complex 
operations may be undertaken in centralised locations while 
assessment and out-patient appointments will be provided locally. 

Responding to a Member’s question the Deputy Director Finance 
reported that 60% of expenditure is on staffing costs, there are no 
plans to reduce the numbers of staff to address the financial deficit at 
the Trust.  The Director of Strategy reported that there will be 
reduction in agency spend, improved recruitment and retention as well 
as an emphasis on reviewing the workforce, with a view to employing 
more nursing associates.

It was agreed:

Further detailed information in respect of the Trust financial position 
and work undertaken to address the financial deficit will be considered 
at afuture meeting of the Joint health overview and scrutiny committee 
for Pennine Acute.
 

PAT 18/19-09 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

Jo Purcell, Deputy Director of Strategy, North east Sector provided 
members with an overview of the operational plan for 2018/19.  The 
new plan builds on key priorities identified in the in the 2017/18 
Salford Royal and Pennine Acute Operational plans whilst refreshing 
and realigning priorities to realise the benefits that the Group structure 
enables.

The plan contains information with regards to the following areas:
 Link to the GM devolution plan and locality plans
 Northern Care Alliance and STP governance
 Delivery priorities
 Activity plan
 Quality planning
 Workforce planning
 Care organisation priorities

It was agreed:

Further more detailed performance information will be presented at a 
future meeting of the Joint Health overview and scrutiny committee for 
Pennine Acute.

PAT 18/19-10 UPDATE ON THE NORTHERN CARE ALLIANCE
 

Jack Sharp, Director of Strategy reported that the presentation brings 
together and builds on considerable work undertaken by NES 
commissioners, in conjunction with the NCA, over the last 12 months 
to develop a strategy to secure clinically and financially sustainable 
acute services.

Page 134



6

The presentation summarises the emerging proposals that will need to 
be refined and formally reviewed as part of the development of the 
North East Sector (NES) acute Clinical Service Strategy. In particular, 
it describes:
• The needs of the NES population, the existing acute commissioning

 Intentions and the key drivers for change within the sector
• A summary of the NES hospital sites and the associated issues that 
will need to be considered as the Strategy is refined
• Agreed fixed points and where decisions may be contingent on 
Theme 3
• The proposed approach to service transformation and cost reduction
• The agreed option appraisal framework and evaluation criteria
• The timeline and steps for finalising the NES acute Service Strategy

The Chair of the Joint Committee raised concerns that the information 
presented still does not pinpoint the sites and services that will be 
affected.  The Chair asked that more detailed information be presented 
and that the Joint Committee is kept informed of the timescales for 
implementation including the details of, if required, public consultation.
 
It was agreed:

The Joint Committee would consider in more detail the emerging 
proposals for the development of the north east sector acute clinical 
service strategy at the next meeting, scheduled to take place in 
October 2018.

 PAT 18/19-11 URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business reported.

Page 135



1

Item 03
MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE HELD ON 12 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT CHURCHGATE HOUSE

Present:

Bolton Council Councillor Stephen Pickup

Bury MBC Councillor Stella Smith

Manchester CC Councillor Eve Holt

Oldham Council Councillor Colin McLaren

Rochdale BC Councillor Ray Dutton

Salford CC Councillor Margaret Morris

Stockport MBC Councillor Keith Holloway

Tameside MBC Councillor Gill Peet

Trafford Council Councillor Anne Duffield

Wigan Council Councillor John O’Brien
(Chair)

Also in attendance:

Terri Byrne GMFRS
Tony Hunter GMFRS
Lindsay Dunn Governance and Scrutiny Officer, GMCA
Warren Heppolette GM HSC Partnership
Dave McNally NWAS
Zoe O’Neil GM HSC Partnership
Andy Redgrave NWAS
Jon Rouse GM HSC Partnership – Chief Officer
Jackie Wardle Derbyshire County Council

HSC/25/18 APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from, Susan Ford (GMCA), Councillor Linda Grooby
(Derbyshire County Council), Steven Pleasant (GMCA Lead Chief Executive –
Health) and Councillor Sophie Taylor (Trafford Council).

Page 136

Agenda Item 12



2

HSC/26/18 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda.

HSC/27/18 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 11 JULY 2018

The minutes of the meeting held 11 July 2018 were presented for consideration.

RESOLVED/-

To approve the minutes of the meeting held 11 July 2018.

HSC/28/18 AUTOMATED EXTERNAL DEFIBRILLIATOR (AED) ACROSS
GREATER MANCHESTER

David McNally, Community Engagement & Resuscitation Manager for the Greater
Manchester Area, North West Ambulance Service provided members with an
overview of current Automated External Defibrillator provision across the Greater
Manchester area, and work of the Community Engagement and Resuscitation
Department within the North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust to increase the
survival rates from a person suffering an out of hospital cardiac arrest.

This was supplemented by a presentation which provided statistics in relation to
the number of cardiac arrests for the period April 2017 to March 2018. During
2016-17 North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) treated 3,838 cases of out of
hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) across the North West, of these patients 65.2%
received bystander Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) of which 9.07%
survived, with the combined use of CPR and Automated External Defibrillation
(AED) the survival rate was increased to 20.97%.

The importance of greater awareness and confidence in performing early CPR and
the use of a defibrillator were recognised as key to improving survival rates along
with the wider availability and visibility of AEDs. It was acknowledged that AEDs
are life-saving items of equipment, which when used along with CPR, can enhance
the chances of surviving a cardiac arrest.

Members were advised that there are 1930 Public Access Defibrillator (PAD) and
250 Community PAD sites across GM. It was further noted that there are 48
Community First Responders (CFR’s) across GM who provide a vital part of care
for patients right in the heart of the community giving patients life-saving extra
minutes and being an extra helping hand to ambulance crews as well as a friendly
reassuring face to people in their most desperate of times.

Furthermore, it was reported that NWAS has integrated a smart phone activation
app called ‘Good SAM’. It was advised over 500 members of the Trust have this
available to them when they are off duty which informs them of a known/potential
cardiac arrest within a 500 metre radius allowing for early CPR to be administered
and further increasing chances of survival.

Page 137



3

It was acknowledged that there are further engagement opportunities across all
partners within the Greater Manchester area, to allow knowledge to be shared to
enhance further the difference the training and devices can make to the survival of
people suffering an out of hospital cardiac arrest.

In support of the objective to increase the survival of people suffering an out of
hospital cardiac arrest, the Committee suggested that a call for action campaign
utilising social media to request the registration of existing PADs along with the
promotion of the training for community first responders. It was agreed that the
registration form for defibrillators would be provided to all members of the
Committee to promote and share across networks and localities. It was proposed
that coordination of the any promotion would be undertaken with colleagues in
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service (GMFRS) and the GM Combined
Authority (GMCA).

The committee considered the opportunities to encourage more individuals to
become community responders. A member highlighted the cost involved for
arranging first aid training and it was suggested that individuals working in
coaching and junior clubs/organisations across the conurbation are a resource that
could be utilised to receive CPR training. It was acknowledged that first aid training
provided by private companies can be expensive but community CPR training and
education is delivered free of charge in partnership by GMFRS and NWAS at
specific events in order to develop mass awareness.

Members discussed the fear that exists with regards to using the defibrillator. It
was suggested that the message that a defibrillator will not work unless a person is
in cardiac arrest, therefore, you cannot hurt someone with a defibrillator should be
promoted in order to raise confidence within communities.

Tony Hunter, Director of Prevention and Protection, GMFRS provided an overview
of the collective work to improve the rates of survival to discharge in GM. It was
reported that public service reform has improved the collaborative response across
all blue light organisations and provided highlights of the work being undertaken by
GMFRS in support.

RESOLVED/-

1. To support this ongoing work;
2. To increase awareness created through partnership working;
3. To provide the registration form for defibrillators;
4. Members to promote and raise awareness of the defibrillator registration

across localities and networks;
5. To provide further information to members on the opportunities to engage

communities to undertake CPR training.

Page 138



4

HSC/29/18 LOCAL CARE ORGANISATION (LCO) DEVELOPMENT ACROSS
GREATER MANCHESTER

Warren Heppolette, Executive Lead, Strategy & System Development, GM Health
and Social Care Partnership, introduced a paper which set out the approach and
findings towards understanding the development of LCOs. It described the core
model features that drive success, learning to date and how work will continue to
increase the pace of change so all residents in GM can benefit from these models
of care.

It was advised that the process has highlighted essential learning such as: the
significance of integrated neighbourhood level working, a single leadership
structure, clarity on permissions and accountabilities which, amongst others, are
vital to successful delivery of new models of care.

The evaluation and learning from these reviews have been presented against the
four key themes of an LCO. This will inform the work programme of the LCO
Network for 18/19 and the continued support to move forward through revised
ways of working.

The four key themes at the core of LCO development were highlighted to the
Board along with the intention to gain a deeper understanding of the capability to
deliver single leadership and management arrangements together with integrated
governance in a place which delivers a culture for change and empowered staff at
neighbourhood level.

Examples of localities where progress was being made against the four key
themes were highlighted to members. It was acknowledged that further work was
required to provide comparative data in order to measure performance and it was
proposed that a further update which would include a dashboard of indicators
could be provided to the Committee for review in March.

In support of the development of the LCO network members commented on the
significance of the report for local health scrutiny committees to obtain a more
thorough understanding of the development as the centre piece of transforming
community based care and support. It was suggested that further case studies to
emphasise what LCO development means in practice for communities and
workforce would be valuable for communication.

It was acknowledged that individual case studies along with performance
measures that can demonstrate the benefits of change would assist in
identification and public recognition of the role of LCO’s.

Members discussed the valuable role of IT support and financial constraints in
adult and childrens social care to support prevention and enable conditions to be
managed at home and in the community. The financial gap around adult social
care funding in particular was highlighted and members were advised that GM’s
submission to Government ahead of the Comprehensive Spending Review would
demonstrate the impact of the lack of an appropriately funded model for adult
social care across the system.

Page 139



5

RESOLVED/-

1. To note the contents of this report and support the way moving forward;
2. To note the comments from Members with regard to the provision of

additional case studies which could demonstrate the benefits of LCO
development in localities;

3. To provide further consideration to the Committee receiving an update in
March 2019 including a dashboard of indicators for performance review.

HSC/30/18 DISCUSSION OF COMMITTEE’S PRIORITIES FOR 2018/19

A report was presented that set out the Committee’s work programme noting it had
been developed following consideration and discussion by Members at the
meeting in July.

Members were asked to contact the Governance and Scrutiny Officer with any
suggested items for inclusion in the work programme.

RESOLVED/-

1. That the report be noted;
2. That any further suggestions to the work programme be submitted to the

Governance and Scrutiny Officer.

HSC/31/18 DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

All meetings will take place in the Boardroom at GMCA Offices, Churchgate
House. Further briefing session dates will be advised separately.

Wednesday 14 November 2018 10:00 am – 12 noon
Wednesday 16 January 2019 10:00 am – 12 noon
Wednesday 13 March 2019 10:00 am – 12 noon

Page 140



Report to Integrated Commissioning Board

Date of Meeting : 27th November 2018
Portfolio : Integrated Commissioning Lead Member : Cllr Rowbotham
Report Author : Rob Kilvington Lead Officer : Victoria Bradshaw
Public/Private Document : Public

2019/20 – 2020/21 Savings Programme for the Integrated Health & 
Social Care Pooled Fund

Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB) with 
recommendations regarding Savings Proposals to contribute to closing the 
budget gap for the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund for 2019/20 & 
2020/21.

Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that ICB  :-
a) Approve the savings programme timetable initially discussed and revised 

at ICB in October 2018, and detailed at Appendix 1 to this report.
b) Consider the savings proposals incorporated in the report that forms part 

of the Private agenda and, if minded to accept the proposals, 
recommend them for implementation or consultation as appropriate as 
noted.

 
Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The Pooled Fund operates under Section 75 of the National Health Service 
2006 Act and is mandated to set a balanced budget at the start of each 
financial year. 

The last report taken to ICB on 30th October confirmed budget gaps for The 
Pooled Fund of :-

 £12.3m in 2019/20 and 
 £12.7m in 2020/21

Page 141

Agenda Item 14



Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

It should be noted whilst this is a best estimate of the budget gap at this time 
until the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) receives its allocations, national 
planning guidance and concludes its contract negotiations the final gap will not 
be known.  It is therefore essential that work commences as soon as possible 
to implement all schemes that are approved.

All savings schemes / proposals have been reviewed by a working group 
including representatives from the Commissioning, Finance, HR, Legal and 
Equality teams and have been broken down into 3 distinct groups :-

 Contract Negotiation – schemes will be delivered through the Contract 
Negotiation process undertaken within the Health sector, with no specific 
need for public consultation

 Business as Usual – schemes will be delivered by Council services or 
the CCG as part of their business as usual processes, with no specific 
need for public consultation. These are included for information only.

 Consultation – schemes are subject to a period of public consultation 
with stakeholders as the proposal will either cease in totality the 
provision of a service or significantly change it

The savings schemes / proposals that are being considered in this report reflect 
the first of 2 initial rounds of proposals. The proposals that form part of Round 2 
will be brought to ICB on 29th January 2019.

The table below summarises the impact on the budget gap of the proposals 
being considered :-

 

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

"Contract Negotiation" Proposals 4 1,378 450
"Business as Usual" Proposals 17 3,645 -30 1,233 -35
Proposals subject to "Consultation" 1 259
Total 22 5,282 -30 1,683 -35

2019/20 2020/21
No of 

Proposals
The impact of Round 1 Savings Proposals on the 
Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund

Details of all the savings scheme proposals can be found in the private part of 
the agenda.

Consultation for those savings scheme proposals that require consultation will 
commence on 3rd December 2018. Consultation will finish on 16th January 2019 
and the outcome of consultation will be presented to ICB at its meeting on 29th 
January 2019. 

The full timetable for the 2019/20 – 2020/21 Savings Programme can be found 
at Appendix 1.

Alternatives Considered

Para 3.1 notes that the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund is 
mandated to set a balanced budget and all areas of the Pooled Fund will 
therefore be reviewed in the search for opportunities to close the budget gap. 

Page 142



4.9 ICB could decide not to implement some / all of these proposals and provide 
alternative options to enable a balanced budget to be achieved. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

Paragraph 3.2 confirms that the current budget gaps for 2019/20 & 2020/21 are 
£12.3m and £12.7m respectively.

Paragraph 4.4 confirms that Round 1 proposals, if approved, could reduce the 
Pooled Fund  gaps in 2019/20 & 2020/21 by £5.25m and £6.93m respectively. 

Paragraph 4.3 confirms that a second round of savings scheme proposals will be 
brought to ICB in January aimed at closing the remaining budget gaps.  

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Section 75 of the National Health Service 2006 Act gives powers to local 
authorities and health bodies to establish pooled funds out of which payment 
may be made towards expenditure incurred in the exercise of prescribed LA 
functions and prescribed NHS functions.

Risk implications have been added where applicable within individual detailed 
reports.  To manage this risk ICB will be supplied with copies of all available 
implications to make informed decisions.

Where relevant, specific legal issues have been identified in the individual 
savings proposal reports. Legal advice has also been provided in relation to 
the Equality Act duties, and recent case law decisions on both requirements 
for an open and transparent consultation process and the inclusion of equality 
impact assessments.

Advice has been provided on the following:

 The need to ensure that service reductions do not constitute a failure 
on the part of the Council and the CCG to fulfill statutory duties.

 The need to be aware of contractual arrangements with third parties 
which can only be varied by agreement or which (if that does not prove 
possible) can only be terminated by substantial notice periods and 
consider the financial implications of any variations.

 The need to be aware of restrictions which affect property assets. 
Some have restrictions on usage, some have conditions attached to 
gifts and planning restrictions might apply. On this last aspect, there 
needs to be separation of the Council’s statutory role from that of 
property owner.

 Some proposals may ultimately involve the transfer of staff with the 
resultant need to undertake statutory consultations.

 Some proposals will involve potential redundancy. This will involve 
statutory consultations.

 Advice on contractual, procurement law matters (including staff related 

Page 143



6.5

6.6

6.7

matters).

The personnel implications arising for the proposals contained within this 
report summarised below:

 Some of these proposals may result in a reduction in the number of 
established posts within the Council and depending on the outcome of 
consultation and final decisions made these will be deleted as a 
consequence of these proposals. However at this current time the 
proposals that include deletions of posts are not envisaged to place 
anyone at risk of redundancy as they are vacant posts to be deleted.

 If after the review of the proposals, occupied posts are identified as 
potentially redundant and which employees will be at risk of 
redundancy, the Council and the CCG will apply its established policies 
and procedures. This would include the application of the Council or 
CCG’s redundancy process as applicable.

 Where posts proposed to be deleted are occupied the employee(s) 
concerned would become at risk of redundancy.

 If this arises any employees affected will be provided with support 
through the Council’s and the CCG’s established procedures for 
dealing with staff that are at risk of redundancy.

 Through the application of these policies and procedures, the Council 
and the CCG would seek to minimise the number of employees who 
may be compulsory redundant.  In this respect, the Council and the 
CCG would seek to provide suitable alternative employment wherever 
this is possible and will seek to achieve reductions by voluntary 
measures wherever possible, by seeking volunteers for early 
retirement/voluntary redundancy.

 The proposals will be subject to full consultation with staff and trade 
unions in line with statutory requirements.   It is considered that the 
total number of jobs affected during the budget setting process is likely 
to be below 100. However, to ensure sufficient consultation takes place 
the Council is preparing to comply with the statutory minimum 
consultation period of 30 days (which is required where there is to be 
100 or less redundancies) before making final decisions on its 
proposals.  In addition, the Council will also ensure that the 
consultation process is meaningful and commences when potential 
redundancies are contemplated, that full consideration is given to the 
outcome and any comments received before final decisions are made 
regarding implementation, which are also legal requirements.

 The outcome of consultations will be reported to ICB to allow for full 
consideration of feedback and final decisions will be made on the 
proposals taking into account the outcome of consultation.

Equalities Impacts

Workforce Equality Impact Assessment

A workforce impact assessment will be undertaken to understand how the 
overall proposals affect the make-up of the workforce.

The Council undertook a workforce EIA for the savings process on general 

Page 144



services in previous years. The same analysis will be undertaken for the 
cohort of staff affected by these saving proposals in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  A 
full equalities impact assessment will be undertaken following the 
implementation of the savings proposals, at which point we may need to 
revisit our equalities action plan or other policies.

Consultation

7.1 This report has been produced in consultation with colleagues from both the 
Council and CCG. The Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on the 28th November 2018 will be consulted with on the saving 
proposals.  

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers 

For Further Information Contact: Rob Kilvington, 01706 925444
rob.kilvington@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 145



Appendix 1 – Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund 2019/20 - 2020/21 
Savings Programme – Timetable

ICB Pooled Fund Saving Programme Timeline

Date Meeting/Event Purpose
2018

November

Process 1. 2nd November Deadline for written saving proposals
2. W/C 5th November Working Group 
(HR/Legal/Finance/Equalities/Assets)
3. 12th November Finance, Performance & Risk Group
4. 14th November papers to Integrated Commissioning Board
5. 27th November Integrated Commissioning Board
6. 29th November Health, Schools and care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

December Consultation Round 1 1. 3rd December start of formal consultation
2019

January

Post Consultation Round 1 
Process and Report

Round 2 Consultation

1. 16th January Consultation ends
2. 17th January Final submission of Post Consultation Reports
3. 18th January Savings Working Group 
(HR/Legal/Finance/Equalities/Assets)
4. 18th January Finance, Performance & Risk Group
5. 18th January papers to Integrated Commissioning Board
6. 29th January Integrated Commissioning Board (outcome of 
consultation)
7. 30th January Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

1. 7th January Deadline for written savings proposals
2. 14th January Savings Working Group 
(HR/Legal/Finance/Equalities/Assets)
3. 15th January Finance, Performance & Risk Group
3. 16th January papers to Integrated Commissioning Board
4. 29th January Integrated Commissioning Board
5. 30th January Health, Schools and care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee
6. 31st January formal consultation starts on round 2 proposals

March 

Post Consultation Round 2 
Process and Report

1. 1st March Consultation ends
2. 6th March final submission of post consultation reports
3. 7th March Savings Working Group (HR, Legal, Finance)
4. 8th March Finance, Performance & Risk Group
5. 11th March papers to Integrated Commissioning Board
6. 19th March Integrated Commissioning Board (post consultation round 
2)
7. TBC Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 146



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Northern Care Alliance
	7 Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Boards Annual Report 2017/18
	safeguarding reports

	8 Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2018-19 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2018-19 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 2 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2018-19 Quarter 2 Performance Update
	Append. 3 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2018-19 Quarter 2 Performance Update

	9 Market Oversight Report
	Market Oversight Report - appendix

	10 Joint Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Care (Mental Health) Trust
	11 Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
	12 Greater Manchester Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
	14 2019/20 - 2020/21 Savings Programme for the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund
	16 Savings Proposals

